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Ranked New 
Zealand’s 
6th fastest- 
growing 
business on the 
Deloitte Fast 50 
index and 62nd 
on the Deloitte 
Asia Pacific 
Tech 500.

One of the first 
public companies 
in the world to 
meet B Corp’s 
rigorous social, 
environmental 
and governance 
standards.

Expanding our 
footprint in 
Australia with 
the opening of a 
Brisbane office.

Becoming a 
Trans-Tasman 
business with 
the opening of 
a New Zealand 
office (May 
2013).

A stellar second 
quarter with 
revenues almost 
tripling year- 
on-year at 147% 
(July-September 
2013).

Merry 
Christmas..! 
Snakk’s first 
million dollar 
revenue month.

Generating the 
biggest quarter 
in Snakk’s history. 
Also the first 
quarter the 
company turned 
a small profit.

Partnering with 
MicroDreams 
Foundation 
to enable 
women ‘micro 
entrepreneurs’ 
in the South 
Pacific to 
access small 
loans to set up 
businesses.

Growing 
Australian 
revenues by 
117% year- on-
year.

HIGHLIGHTS FOR YEAR 
ENDING MARCH 2014

Raising $6.5m 
through a Share 
Purchase Plan 
supported by 
over 1,200 
shareholders 
and private 
placements.

6.5M

$1M
MTH

APR 2013 MAY 2013 JUN 2013 JUL 2013 AUG 2013 SEP 2013 OCT 2013 NOV 2013 DEC 2013 MAR 2014



SNAKK MEDIA LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 20146.

FROM THE CHAIR
Snakk’s 2014 financial year was yet another milestone 
year for our young, but rapidly growing, business. 
Fueled by strong organic growth across the Australian 
and New Zealand markets, our underlying revenue 
performance almost doubled which was a stunning 
performance by the team. 

2014 also saw us begin to invest in some great 
technology partnerships (Moasis Global and Plyfe). 
By aligning Snakk with some of the most progressive 
technology entrepreneurs in North America it not 
only continues to build up our portfolio of world-class 
mobile media platforms, but also ensures we remain at 
the forefront of the mobile advertising industry.

ASX LISTING
We first mentioned a possible dual listing on the ASX 
back in January 2014. Listing in a country where 87% 
of our revenue is generated from will certainly add 
greater regional and global credibility to prospective 
investors and the markets we move into next. This 
year the board will continue to assess the company’s 
readiness. Ensuring we have the right capital strategy 
and infrastructure to build a strong shareholder base in 
the Australian market will be central to our decision to 
take the next step. 

THE B CORP PHILOSOPHY
Achieving our B Corp certification in June last year; and 
becoming one of the first public companies in the world 
to have met the rigorous social and environmental 
performance standards was also a highlight. Being a B 
Corp means embracing the philosophy that businesses 
exist not only to do well, bringing value to their 
shareholders, but also to do good bringing value to 
their employees and the wider community.

OUR FIRST YEAR AND BEYOND
We have ended our first year as a growing, listed 
company in great health. Compared to when we first 
joined the NZAX 12 months ago, we are a far more 
exciting and mature company. We now have a much 
stronger portfolio of talent and technology assets at 
our disposal backed up by a strong commercial base. 
Add to that the considerable experience that the board 
and the significantly strengthened senior management 
team have of working across different geographies, 
and it leaves me feeling extremely confident about our 
ability to accelerate our growth plans in the year ahead. 

The Snakk share price is yet to follow our strong, 
consistently upwards trajectory as a start-up business 
– but as Warren Buffet has said, “Price is what you pay, 
value is what you get”. In line with the commentary 
from the latest Edison Research reports, the board and 
management are optimistic about the future value of 
the company and are proactively investing in ways to 
be clearer about the market opportunity and Snakk’s 
position in it.

THE YEAR AHEAD
The coming year will be about investing in more 
growth, more regions and new offerings to create a 
dominant position in Asia-Pacific. It will also be about 
accelerating strategic development options such as the 
ASX and continuing to assess the landscape for clever 
investments or even acquisitions which the board 
continue to review closely.

I’d like to thank my fellow directors, Michelle and Tim, 
as well as Mark for helping lead Snakk into the public 
arena, and to thank all of you for your continued 
support for our young, exciting company.

Derek Handley
Chair and Co-Founder
Snakk Media Ltd

“BEING A B CORP MEANS EMBRACING THE 
PHILOSOPHY THAT BUSINESSES EXIST NOT ONLY 
TO DO WELL, BUT ALSO TO DO GOOD”

—— DEREK HANDLEY, 
Chair and Co-Founder
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Since becoming Group CEO in April 2013 it has been 
very gratifying to see the company’s growth continue 
to accelerate and surpass the previous financial years’ 
gains.

While we made a modest profit in our third quarter, the 
last financial year has primarily been about investing 
for long-term growth. That said, we have prudently 
managed our rate of cash usage. Last financial year our 
loss grew 90% year-on-year, this year our loss grew 
64% year-on-year, the lowest level since establishing 
the company. Each area of the business has been 
carefully reviewed and scaled appropriately to cope 
with the demands we’ll face over the next year. We 
intend to stay a step ahead with our reputation for 
innovation and delivering effective results for our 
clients, which as a fast-growing technology company 
means continuing to incur losses and cash burn as we 
pursue scale across Asia Pacific.

INVESTING IN OUR PEOPLE
The company is maturing rapidly and we’ve prudently 
expanded our talent pool over the last year. We’ve 
committed time and investment into identifying and 
securing top industry talent who will help us manage 
the demands of growing campaign volumes, increasing 
technological complexity and an industry that is 
growing faster than any before it.

INVESTING IN OUR AGENCY 
PARTNERSHIPS
Snakk strengthened its relationships and commercial 
arrangements with all of the leading media agencies 
across Australia and New Zealand. These media 
agencies partner with Snakk to help top-tier brands 
target the right groups of mobile and tablet users with 
the right messages at the right place and time.  
A small sample of the premium local and global brands 
we’ve completed campaigns for over the last year 
include CBA, Expedia, Vodafone, Domain.com.au, 
Paramount Pictures, Samsung, PayPal, Google Chrome, 
McDonalds, Amex, IBM, Westfield, ESPN, Destination 
NSW (formerly Tourism NSW), David Jones, Optus,

Pepsi, Australian Defence Recruitment and MasterCard.

INVESTING IN OUR TECHNOLOGIES
We’ve also continued to invest significant resources 
into building our exclusive portfolio of market-leading 
mobile advertising technologies, primarily from North 
America. A recent focus has been on those that target 
specific geographic locations combined with audience 
or ‘user’ data to reach the right people at the right 
time. This will continue to be a key growth-enabling 
strategy for Snakk. We’ve introduced several new 
product offerings over the last year, including advanced 
audience targeting technologies, unique social 
network advertising, and market-first video offerings. 
Our determination to consistently bring innovative 
products to market gives us a competitive edge over 
our competition.

CONCLUDING COMMENTS
Snakk is continuing to invest in building an APAC 
business that is of significant value, and begins its 2015 
financial year strongly with more than NZD$6.3m in 
cash and cash equivalents to fund our expansion plans.

Our strategy of identifying the best smart screen 
advertising technology platforms to invest in – or 
partner with – gives us a distinct competitive edge 
in Australia and New Zealand, and will keep us at the 
forefront of a fast-growing and rapidly evolving industry. 
We intend to capitalise on this strategy to fuel our entry 
into Asia, where the next wave of mobile advertising 
growth is about to take off.
 
As we look to the future we’re extremely confident  
we’re going to make an impact across Australia,  
New Zealand and Asia, and continue to create a 
business of considerable worth.

Mark Ryan
Group CEO
Snakk Media Ltd

CEO’S REVIEW

“THE LAST FINANCIAL YEAR HAS PRIMARILY 
BEEN ABOUT INVESTING FOR LONG-TERM 
GROWTH. THAT SAID, WE HAVE PRUDENTLY 
MANAGED OUR RATE OF CASH USAGE. LAST 
FINANCIAL YEAR OUR LOSS GREW 90% YEAR-
ON-YEAR, THIS YEAR OUR LOSS GREW 64% 
YEAR-ON-YEAR, THE LOWEST LEVEL SINCE 
ESTABLISHING THE COMPANY.”

—— MARK RYAN, 
Group CEO

Revenues from March 2013 to 
March 2014 increased 92% 
year-on-year, from $3,654,004 
to $7,056,106.92%

$6.3M
Ending the year with 
NZD $6.3M in cash & 
cash equivalents for the 
year ahead.
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WHAT DOES SNAKK DO?
WE SEEK OUT...
The best mobile advertising technology solutions from 
around the world, particularly in the US to ensure 
we remain at the forefront of the mobile advertising 
industry.

WE TEAM IT UP WITH OUR ….
Proven expertise in mobile strategy and audience 
profiling to predict when an individual will be most 
receptive to a brand’s message.

THEN WE PASS ON TO OUR...
In-house creative and ad operations team to ensure 
award-winning brand advertisements are served up to 
the right person at the right time, for every campaign.

TO DELIVER...
The greatest possible outcomes for our clients…  
every time.

Whether this involves simple clicks on our 
advertisements, downloads of applications, video views 
or more complex user engagement measures, Snakk 
has the experience and expertise to consistently deliver 
for agencies and premium brands.

SNAKK PUTS BRANDS 
RIGHT WHERE THEY 
NEED TO BE

RIGHT TIME, RIGHT 
PLACE, RIGHT MESSAGE, 
GREAT RESULTS

RESULTS
Campaign ran across approx. 2,000 different 
entertainment, health, lifestyle, and sports related 
apps/websites. 6,385 people clicked on the banner.
394 people activated the offer – 6% follow through 
(compared to an industry benchmark of 2.5%).

People fitting that profile were 
served a banner asking them 
to activate an offer. The banner 
had live geo location data of the 
smartphone owner fed into it.

When the offer was clicked it 
expanded to inform them how far 
they were from a Subway – the 
execution had live store location 
data fed into it.

When offer clicked again a 30 min 
countdown timer commenced 
and showed a Google map with 
directions to the store location.

CLIENT STORY: Subway pilot – Brisbane & Gold Coast
 
Snakk used a combination of geographic and time-of-day targeting to capture an audience who were within an 
8km radius of Subway stores in selected areas of Queensland, and likely to be hungry!

HERE’S HOW IT WORKED: 

2,000 APPS TARGETED
6,385 CLICKS
394 ACTIVATIONS
2X INDUSTRY AVERAGE

WHO DO WE DO THAT FOR? 
Snakk Media helps leading brands such 
as Samsung, McDonalds, Adidas, and Air 
New Zealand find and reach consumers 
using apps, such as games and social 
media, on their smartphones, tablets and 
other smart screens. 

HOW DO WE MAKE MONEY?
The company generates revenue every 
time it successfully targets and delivers 
an ad across its networks of mobile 
websites, apps and games. The ads are 
targeted to ensure the right audiences see 
them at the right time and place.
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18.1%
Desktop
internet

2.7%
Mobile
internet

39.1%
Offline

40.1%
TV

19.5%
Desktop
internet

7.6%
Mobile
internet

33.7%
Offline

39.2%
TV

(source: ZenithOptimedia)

2013 2016

Mobile internet
growth

Desktop internet
growth

181.5%

7.7%

Offline = Newspapers, Magazines, Outdoor, Radio, Cinema

GLOBAL ADVERTISING 
SPEND IS MORE THAN 
HALF A TRILLION $USD

Global advertising spend is on track to reach $537 
billion in 2014. Internet advertising will account for 
nearly one-quarter of that, at $121 billion while mobile 
advertising sits at $13.4 billion.

While mobile advertising weighs in at just 2.7% of 
all global advertising spend, by 2016 that number 
is predicted to rise to $45 billion, or 7.6% of total 
advertising spend.

SHARE OF GLOBAL ADVERTISING SPEND BY MEDIUM (%)

MOBILE ADVERTISING 
GROWTH DOWN UNDER

AUSTRALIA IS IN FULL SWING
The share of Australian mobile advertising spend as 
a percentage of overall digital spend is continuing to 
accelerate, more than tripling between 2012 and 2013.

NEW ZEALAND IS JUST BEGINNING
In New Zealand, a newer mobile advertising market, 
we’re seeing the same growth in mobile advertising 
spend as experienced in Australia less than two  
years ago.

2012

2.5%

2013

8%

2012
0.8%

2013

1.5%

2012 VS 2013 MOBILE ADVERTISING SPEND AS A PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL 
DIGITAL ADVERTISING SPEND
(source: PWC Global Media & Entertainment Outlook 2014 – 2018)

“MOBILE WILL LEAPFROG 
RADIO, MAGAZINES AND 
OUTDOOR TO BECOME THE 
WORLD’S FOURTH-LARGEST 
MEDIUM BY THE END OF OUR 
FORECAST PERIOD 2016”

—— ZenithOptimedia
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468.8m
$586m

OUR POTENTIAL
AUDIENCE IS SET TO
INCREASE TEN FOLD
AS WE MOVE INTO ASIA
Active mobile social users are a group who 
predominantly use apps on their smartphones and 
tablets to access social media. They represent a key 
consumer demographic for Snakk Media. 

For New Zealand and Australia active mobile social user 
numbers equate to almost 13m people.

When we include Asian markets, that number jumps 
to over 124m – almost 10x the audience that Snakk 
addresses in New Zealand and Australia combined.

11M

12M

24M

3.8M

17M22M

13M

1.9M

2.8M
54M

JAN 2014ACTIVE MOBILE SOCIAL USERS

AUSTRALIA

TAIWAN

PHILIPPINES

HONG KONG

VIETNAM

THAILAND

MALAYSIA

NEW ZEALAND

SINGAPORE

INDONESIA

(source: We are Social – Asia Pacific Digital Overview 2014)

IN ASIAN MARKETS THE 
MOBILE PARTY IS ONLY 
JUST GETTING STARTED

Key Asian markets are significantly underweight in their current level of mobile and tablet advertising spend. 
However their rapid rate of smartphone adoption and and large populations ensures that the spend levels will 
grow enormously in coming years.

POPULATION* 2013 DIGITAL 
ADVERTISING SPEND

2013 MOBILE 
ADVERTISING SPEND

PWC GLOBAL MEDIA & ENTERTAINMENT OUTLOOK 
2014 – 2018 (ASIAN MARKETS*) USD

"HEAVY SHIFTS TO MOBILE IN NORTH AMERICA, WESTERN 
EUROPE AND PARTS OF ASIA-PACIFIC MEAN THAT BY THE END 
OF 2018, MORE THAN HALF OF ALL DIGITAL AD SPENDING WILL 
GO TOWARD MOBILE INTERNET FORMATS.” 

—— eMarketer, July 2014

* Hong Kong, Malaysia, 
Vietnam, Philippines, 
Indonesia, Taiwan, 
Thailand

$11m



SNAKK MEDIA LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 201416.

APPLICATIONS RULE THE 
MOBILE WORLD

Once considered a mere fad a few years ago, 
applications (apps) are now completely dominating 
how users are spending their time on their 
smartphones.

source: http://www.nielsen.com/us/en/reports/2014/
an-era-of-growth-the-cross-platform-report.html

TIME SPENT USING MOBILE & TABLET APPS VERSUS MOBILE WEBSITES

TIME SPENT

89% APPS

11% MOBILE WEB

ADVERTISING DOLLARS 
ALWAYS FOLLOW 
AUDIENCES

The disparity between the time spent using ‘other apps’ and their advertising spend represents an enormous 
opportunity for Snakk, whose core business is the development and placement of highly-targeted advertising 
within mobile and tablet applications.

ADVERTISING SPEND VERSUS TIME SPENT ON MOBILE – 2013

70%

GOOGLE OTHER APPS

18%

49%

65%

33%

Time Spent

Ad Spend

Note: Other APPs exclude Facebook. Source: Flurry Analytics

SNAKK IS AN ‘IN-APP’ ADVERTISING MEDIA SPECIALIST. 
WITH ALMOST 90% OF MOBILE WEB TRAFFIC OCCURRING 
VIA APPS, EXPERTISE IN THIS CHANNEL IS CRITICAL TO 
SUCCEEDING IN THE MOBILE ADVERTISING CATEGORY.

10%

30%

50%
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AT SNAKK 
LIFE IS ABOUT 
PEOPLE.
 
People living, aspiring, becoming, creating,  
belonging, accomplishing.

WITHOUT OUR PEOPLE,
WE’RE NOTHING.
WE MEAN THAT.

As the lines between work and life continue to blur 
today’s workforce want to work for a company whose 
values align with theirs; to feel challenged, engaged  
and valued.
 
Lots of organisations talk about how they value their 
people, how they want to retain and attract the best 
talent and need an ‘industry leading culture’… whatever 
that actually means.
 
In many cases it’s all noise.
 
At Snakk we want our people to be successful. Not just 
at work, but in life. Happiness, health, attitude, and our 
everyday outlook all contribute to our performance; in 
our jobs, in our relationships and in our communities. 
So that’s where we started.
 
We held a series of surveys and workshops so the 
entire team could define what values we wanted to 
live by and be accountable to. As a team we arrived at 
Integrity, Vitality, Heart, Continuous Improvement and 
Achievement.

Here’s a snapshot of how our values are being brought 
to life. 

We’ve chosen to partner with Inside80, a specialist 
coaching company, to roll out a six month long Personal 
Performance Program. Their unique ‘Brain Body Belief ’ 
method works on all aspects of our people’s energy 
systems - from working out physically, to achieving the 
optimal nutrition, improving work-style balance, or 
simply learning how to be happy with themselves.
 
We’re also continuing to develop Snakk’s Employee 
Benefits program. Our people already have their health 
cover subsidised, can access gym memberships and 
enjoy annual length of service rewards.

Our world-class Employee Share Options Plan 
Launched in December 2013. By allowing each team 
member to own part of the company we’re making 
Snakk much more than just a day job for them.
 
Finally we’ve also set aside one day a quarter for each 
team member to make a difference in the community 
as part of our growing social impact agenda.

“I WANT SNAKK TO BE THE 
COMPANY WHERE PEOPLE 
DON’T JUST DO INCREDIBLE 
WORK… BUT WORKING HERE 
ALLOWED THEM TO LOOK AT 
THEMSELVES AND THE WORLD 
AROUND THEM IN A WAY THEY 
HADN’T DONE PREVIOUSLY. I 
WANT SNAKK TO BE THAT ONE 
COMPANY ON THEIR RESUME 
THAT REALLY HELPED THEM 
UNDERSTAND THEIR PURPOSE, 
BOTH PERSONALLY AND 
PROFESSIONALLY. ”

—— Group CEO, Mark Ryan
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Warby Parker, an American brand of eyewear and fellow 
B Corp, have distributed one million pairs of glasses to 
people in need (as at 24 June 2014).

At Snakk we don’t just intend to be a success in the 
mobile advertising industry; we also want our brand to 
be synonymous with having created a meaningful place 
to work. To us that means a business environment that 
leverages all of our talents, resources, technologies and 
partnerships to make a unique social impact.

This year we saw an opportunity to use the resources at 
our disposal to make a tangible social impact, via our 
unique partnership with the MicroDreams Foundation.

MicroDreams helps micro entrepreneurs launch or 
expand small businesses that are needed in their 
communities through the provision of small, unsecured 
loans, as low as US$150. As their businesses grow, the 
microentrepreneurs repay their loans, and the funds are 
lent to others who are in need of economic support. In 
this way, the funding is recycled, and the economy of a 
community improves.

As part of our treasury management and 
social impact strategy, in December 2013 we 
invested NZD$200,000 of our treasury funds to 
the MicroDreams Foundation in the form of an 
interest bearing-loan. Snakk Media’s loan enabled 
MicroDreams’ in-field partners, South Pacific Business 
Development (SPBD), to disburse loans to 369 clients 
impacting approximately 1,850 individuals (clients and 
their family members) in Fiji and the Solomon Islands.

Over the course of the 2-year financing arrangement 
from Snakk, MicroDreams expects to disburse 2,216 
loans.

“IT’S GOOD BUSINESS
  TO DO GOOD”
– WARBY PARKER

SOLOMON ISLANDS

Client name: Constance Aru
Community: Mbokana, West Honiara
Loan availed: NZD $548 (SBD $3,500)  
on 27th Feb 2014 for 39 weeks
Business: provision/general store

Constance Aru ran an adhoc business directly from 
her house, where she sold household provisions to 
neighbouring houses within her community. With her 
first loan of NZD $548 (SBD $3,500), Constance built a 
small provisions store and bought sufficient goods for 
her shop. 

She has seen her income increase and become more 
consistent – she now earns NZD $78-125 (SBD $500-
800) per week. Constance can now afford the school 
fees and the bus fares to send her 3 children to school. 

Her goals are to expand her business and add new 
product categories as well as to provide for a good 
future for her children. In addition to the loan, 
Constance received financial education training, 
insurance and savings products. Over last 4 months, 
she has successfully managed to save NZD $485 (SBD 
$3,100).

As a result of our collective 
success, individuals and 
communities will enjoy greater 
economic opportunity, society 
will address its most challenging 
environmental problems, and 
more people will find fulfillment 
by bringing their whole selves to 
work.

DATA FOR MICRODREAMS / SPBD FIJI
AND SPBD SOLOMON ISLANDS:

NATIONAL-LEVEL DATA FOR
FIJI & THE SOLOMON ISLANDS

100% OF BORROWERS 
ARE WOMEN

*source: UNDP Human Development Report 2013 
(2005 PPP US$)

REPAID
LOANS

DESERVING
ENTREPRENEURSGO TO

AVERAGE
LOAN 
SIZE

FAMILY
MEMBERS
POSITIVELY
IMPACTED 

1,850 $NZD
542

85% UNEMPLOYED

TOTAL LOANS
DISTRIBUTED
BY YEAR 2
~2,216 LOANS

SNAKK’S LOAN
$NZD 200,000 369

FIJI 85.3% SOLOMON ISLANDS 84.3%
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DEREK HANDLEY 
Chair and Co-Founder of Snakk Media

Derek Handley believes the new rock stars 
in business (and the world) will be the ones 
who have the biggest social impact, solve 
the most problems, create the most fulfilling 
work environments and define a whole 
new criteria of what it actually means to be 
“successful”.

BACKGROUND AND EXPERIENCE 
In 2001, Derek founded one of the first companies 
in the world that recognised the power of mobile 
devices for connecting consumers, brands and mass 
media called The Hyperfactory. It is the most awarded 
mobile agency globally and was listed by Entrepreneur 
Magazine as one of the Top 100 Brightest Ideas of 2010 
and Brandweek’s 10 Biggest Ideas of 2008.  
Meredith Corporation (NYSE:MDP) acquired the 
company in 2010.

Derek has won several awards recognising his success 
in business including New Zealand Herald Business 
Leader of the Year, Ernst & Young New Zealand ‘Young 
Entrepreneur’ of the Year, PWC Hi-Tech Young Achiever 
of the Year, and a Sir Peter Blake Trust Leader. He has 
also been named one of the most influential technology 
people in New York, making the list of the ‘Silicon Alley 
100’ in 2011.

In December 2011, Derek Handley donated two years 
of his life to work with Sir Richard Branson, Arianna 
Huffington, Unilever CEO Paul Polman and many others 
to help create what is now The B Team – a global 
leadership collective on a mission to catalyse a better 
way of doing business for the wellbeing of people and 
the planet. 

He also carries the B-Team vision with him as an 
Adjunct Executive Professor at AUT University, Chair 
and Co-Founder of NZX-listed B-Corp Snakk Media, 
Board Director at Sky Television, founder of late-stage 
technology investment fund Iliad, New Zealand Arts 
Foundation Trustee, and as an Astronaut-in-Waiting at 
Virgin Galactic.

MARK RYAN 
Group CEO, Snakk Media since April 2013

With almost 20 years of business 
management experience Mark has an 
enviable track record of achievement in 
growth and re-structure roles across a mix 
of international, Asia-Pacific and Australian 
businesses. These organisations have 
included private & public IT, online services, 
advertising agencies and new media 
companies.

BACKGROUND AND EXPERIENCE 
A technology fan since 1983 when he sold his beloved 
motocross bike and bought a Commodore 64, Mark has 
always had a knack for pulling things apart and putting 
them back together again. This skill has served him well 
in his professional life. 

Mark was the first Chief Operating Officer for Ogilvy 
Australia, what was then Australia’s largest advertising 
agency. Prior to this Mark completed the agency 
restructure of Euro RSCG Australia (now Havas 
Australia) and was made Chief Operating Officer, 
another newly-created role and a first for the Havas 
global network. He was the first ‘digital business 
specialist’ to move into a C-level role in an Australian-
based global network advertising agency. His previous 
roles were in enterprise software development and 
e-commerce companies.

He is a Director in several companies, has founded 
digital agencies and has sat on registered charity 
Boards and Advisory Boards for start-ups. A highly 
pragmatic and open management style has seen Mark 
succeed across a number of diverse and challenging 
roles. He commenced with Snakk Media in early 2012 as 
Executive Director before becoming Group CEO.

MICHELLE KONG
Director, Snakk Media since January 2013

Michelle is a seasoned strategist and team 
leader who thrives on working with inspired 
and inspiring people. Her core strengths 
lie in bringing clarity in strategic direction 
to support better business outcomes, and 
aligning teams to drive change and action. 
These skills have proved particularly useful to 
her directorship within the fast-paced, high-
growth mobile advertising industry.

BACKGROUND AND EXPERIENCE
Michelle’s career started in the financial services 
industry, working first for Morgan Stanley as an 
investment banking financial analyst in Melbourne, 
New York and Singapore, before moving to Orange to 
join their group strategy and investor relations team 
based in London. During this time, Michelle built a 
strong knowledge of the telecommunications and 
media sectors in various geographies, and a wealth of 
experience in managing teams, before moving closer to 
home to join Telecom New Zealand.

She is currently General Manager, Group Strategy for 
Telecom New Zealand, where she has responsibility for 
group strategy and pricing, product economics and 
business intelligence. 

Michelle also sits as a Trustee on a number of not-for-
profits, including Marram Community Trust and Mind 
Warriors Community Trust, and is actively involved in 
the Springboard Trust as a facilitator. Michelle holds 
degrees in Arts (Pure Mathematics) and Law from the 
University of Sydney, and now lives in Auckland with her 
husband and three young sons.

TIM ALPE
Director, Snakk Media since January 2013

Named Ernst & Young Entrepreneur of 
the Year in 2010 followed by the Sir Peter 
Blake Leadership Award in June 2014, 
Tim is recognised for his exceptional 
entrepreneurial skill and strategic leadership. 
He excels in marketing and brand creation in 
the digital and social media spheres

BACKGROUND AND EXPERIENCE 
Tim has over fifteen years’ experience in the global 
travel and marketing industries culminating in his 
current role as the dynamic and effective Chief JUCY-
fier (CEO), director and co-founder of JUCY Group Ltd. 

Under Tim’s Leadership JUCY has become one of the 
most well-known travel brands throughout Australasia 
and further afield. With over 250 crew based in New 
Zealand, Australia, USA, Germany and the United 
Kingdom, JUCY services over 300,000 customers 
annually. 

Tim is also a director of JUCY Cruize, LUCKY and  
New Zealand’s only car share business CityHop. 
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STATEMENT OF CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE
The objective of the Group is to enhance shareholder 
value. The Board considers there is a strong link 
between good corporate governance policies and 
practices and the achievement of this objective. The 
Board has adopted a corporate governance policy, 
which is available at the Company’s offices.

The directors are responsible for reviewing and 
maintaining the corporate governance principles of 
the Group and consider that they do not materially 
differ from the principles set out in the NZX Corporate 
Governance Best Practice Code, which the Board has 
implemented.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The business and affairs of the Group are managed 
directly by the Board of Directors or by the executive 
of the operating subsidiaries under the direction of the 
Board. In particular the Board:
• establishes the long term goals of the Group and 

strategic plans to achieve those goals;
• reviews and adopts the annual budgets for the 

financial performance of the Group and monitors 
results on a monthly basis;

• ensures preparation of the annual and half-yearly 
financial statements;

• manages risk by ensuring that the Group has 
implemented adequate systems of internal controls 
together with appropriate monitoring of compliance 
activities; and

• works with management to create shareholder 
value.

The Board consists of two non-executive directors and 
one executive director. Both Tim Alpe and Michelle 
Kong are independent directors. Derek Handley 
provides services to the Company, in addition to his 
role as director, via a contracting arrangement between 
the Company and interests associated with Mr Handley.

The Board meets at least monthly on a formally 
scheduled basis. All available information relating 
to items to be discussed at a meeting of the Board is 
provided to each non-conflicted director prior to that 
meeting.

One third or the whole number nearest one third, of the 
directors retires by rotation at each Annual Meeting. 
The directors to retire are those who have been longest 
in office since the last election. Directors retiring by 

rotation may, if eligible, stand for re-election. A director 
appointed since the previous Annual Meeting holds 
office only until the next Annual Meeting but is eligible 
for re-election at that meeting. Under the rotation 
policy Derek Handley offers himself for re-election at 
the next Annual Meeting.

Each director has the right to seek independent legal 
and other professional advice, at the Group’s expense 
with the prior approval of the chairman, concerning 
any aspect of the Group’s operations or undertakings 
to assist in fulfilling their duties and responsibilities as 
directors.

The Board has two standing committees, namely audit 
and remuneration. Other committees are formed for 
specific purposes and disbanded as required.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The current members of the committee are Michelle 
Kong and Tim Alpe.

The audit committee provides a forum for the effective 
communication between the Board and external 
auditors. The committee reviews the annual and half-
yearly financial statements prior to their approval by 
the Board, the effectiveness of internal control and 
management information systems and the efficiency 
and effectiveness of the audit functions.

The committee generally invites the Group’s accountant 
and the auditors to attend audit committee meetings. 
The committee also meets with and receives regular 
reports from the auditors concerning any matters 
that arise in connection with the performance of their 
respective roles, including the adequacy of internal 
controls.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Board as a whole undertakes the role of 
remuneration committee given the small size of the 
Board.

The Board reviews the remuneration packages of 
all directors and the senior management team. The 
Non-Executive Directors approve the remuneration of 
Mr Handley, who is also an executive director and a 
member of the remuneration committee.

The packages of the employees and contractors of the 
Company and its subsidiaries, which consist of base 
salary and incentive schemes (including performance-
related bonuses) are reviewed with due regard to 

performance and other relevant factors.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
The Board as a whole undertakes the role of nomination 
committee given the small size of the Board. The 
Board reviews the composition of the Board annually 
to ensure that the Board comprises a majority of non-
executive directors, with an appropriate mix of skills 
and experience.

The terms and conditions of the appointment of 
directors are set out in a formal letter of appointment 
that deals with the following matters:
• duration of appointment; role of the Board; timing 

and location of Board meetings, and expected 
time commitment; remuneration including timing 
of reviews; committee involvement; Board and 
individual evaluation processes;

• outside interests including other directorships; 
dealing in company shares;

• induction and development processes; access to 
independent professional advice; availability of 
liability insurance; and confidentiality of Group 
information.

CODE OF ETHICS
As part of the Board’s commitment to the highest 
standards of behaviour and accountability, the 
Group adopts a code of ethics to guide executives, 
management and employees in carrying out their 
duties and responsibilities. The code covers such 
matters as:
• responsibilities to shareholders;
• relations with customers and suppliers;
• product/service quality;
• protection of Group assets;
• employment practices; and
• responsibilities to the community.

An interests’ register is maintained for the Group 
in which the particulars of certain transactions and 
matters involving the directors must be recorded. 
The interests’ register is available for inspection at 
its registered office. When a director has declared 
an interest in a particular entity, as a shareholder or 
director, the declaration serves as notice that the 
director may benefit from any transaction between the 
Company and the identified entity.

The Board has adopted a specific policy for directors, 
senior staff and other insiders for trading in the 
Company’s securities. Compliance with this policy is 

actively managed and a director must declare to the 
Board any interest in a transaction with the Company, 
any relationship that might compromise his or her 
ability to act independently from management and any 
conflicts of interest that are potentially detrimental 
to the Group. All directors and senior management of 
the Company are familiar with the Company’s “Insider 
Trading Policy” that relates to dealing in securities by 
directors and employees.

SHAREHOLDER COMMUNICATION
The board places importance on effective 
shareholder communication. Half year and annual 
reports are published each year and posted on the 
Company’s website. From time to time the board 
may communicate with shareholders outside this 
regular reporting regime. Consistent with best practice 
and a policy of continuous disclosure, external 
communications that may contain market sensitive 
data are released through NZX in the first instance. 
Further communication is encouraged with press 
releases through mainstream media.

The board formally reviews its proceedings at the 
conclusion of each meeting to determine whether there 
may be a requirement for a disclosure announcement. 
Shareholder attendance at annual meetings is 
encouraged. 

DIVERSITY POLICY
The Company does not have a formal diversity policy. 
However it recognises the wide-ranging benefits that 
diversity brings to an organisation and its workplaces. 
Snakk Media endeavours to ensure diversity at all 
levels of the organisation to ensure a balance of skills 
and perspectives are available in the service of our 
shareholders and customers.

As at 31 March 2014, the gender balance of the 
Company’s directors, officers and all employees was as 
follows:

Directors Officers Employees

Female 1 (33%) 0 (0%) 7(39%)

Male 2 (67%) 2 (100%) 11 (61%)

Total 3 (100%) 2 (100%) 18 (100%)
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT
The directors are responsible for ensuring that the financial statements give 
a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company and the Group as 
at 31 March 2014 and their financial performance and cash flows for the year 
ended on that date.

The directors consider that the financial statements of the Company and 
the Group have been prepared using appropriate accounting principles, 
consistently applied and supported by reasonable judgements and estimates 
and that all relevant financial reporting and accounting standards have been 
followed.

The directors believe that proper accounting records have been kept which 
enable, with reasonable accuracy, the determination of the financial position 
of the Company and facilitate compliance of the financial statements with the 
Financial Reporting Act 1993.

The directors consider they have taken adequate steps to safeguard the 
assets of the Company and the Group to prevent and detect fraud and other 
irregularities.

The directors have pleasure in presenting the financial statements, set out on 
pages 35-71 of Snakk Media Limited for the year ended 31 March 2014.

The Board of Directors of Snakk Media Limited authorised these financial 
statements for issue on 
24 July 2014.

For and on behalf of the Board

Derek Handley
Chair and Director

Michelle Kong
Director

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
1. SHAREHOLDER STATISTICS

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING
The Company’s shares are listed on the NZX Alternative Market (NZAX) operated by the New Zealand Stock 
Exchange.

SHARES ON ISSUE
As at 2 July 2014, the total number of ordinary shares on issue was 265,132,984.

STOCK EXCHANGE WAIVER
No waivers were sought or relied on from NZAX during the year.

DISTRIBUTIONS OF SECURITY HOLDERS (AS AT 2 JULY 2014)

Shareholders Ordinary Shares

Holding range Number % Number %

1 to 99   819 22.42%  40,438 0.02%

100 to 199   152 4.16%  19,903 0.01%

200 to 499   249 6.82%  72,139 0.03%

500 to 999   121 3.31%  82,742 0.03%

1,000 to 1,999   105 2.87%  141,225 0.05%

2,000 to 4,999   310 8.49%  985,042 0.37%

5,000 to 9,999   219 6.00%   1,446,254 0.55%

10,000 to 49,999   960 26.27%  21,964,564 8.28%

50,000 to 99,999   276 7.56%  18,325,675 6.91%

100,000 to 499,999   379 10.38%  61,150,520 23.06%

500,000 to 999,999  33 0.90%  23,168,736 8.74%

1,000,000 and above  30 0.82%   137,735,746 51.95%

  3,653 100.00%   265,132,984 100.00%
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GEOGRAPHIC DISTRIBUTION OF SECURITY HOLDERS (AS AT 2 JULY 2014)

Country
Holder 
Count

Holder 
Count %

Holding 
Quantity

Holding 
Quantity %

New Zealand  3,502 95.88%   243,802,769 91.95%

Australia  102 2.79%  9,518,488 3.59%

Great Britain  13 0.36%   391,624 0.15%

Hong Kong  6 0.16%  1,978,566 0.75%

USA  5 0.14%   792,599 0.30%

Thailand  4 0.11%  7,115,248 2.68%

Malaysia  3 0.08%   8,445 0.00%

Netherlands  3 0.08%  63,209 0.02%

Canada  2 0.05%  440 0.00%

China  2 0.05%  512 0.00%

Switzerland  2 0.05%  10,400 0.00%

Taiwan  2 0.05%  463 0.00%

Vanuatu  2 0.05%  95,363 0.04%

Austria  1 0.03%  16,000 0.01%

France  1 0.03%   256,063 0.10%

Ireland  1 0.03%  668 0.00%

Italy  1 0.03%  1,080,687 0.41%

Republic of Korea  1 0.03%   1,440 0.00%

  3,653 100.00%  265,132,984 100.00%

20 LARGEST REGISTERED HOLDERS OF QUOTED EQUITY SECURITIES (AS AT 2 JULY 2014)

Shareholder
Number of 

shares held
Percentage of 
issued shares

Far East Associated Traders Limited  40,772,634 15.38%

New Zealand Central Securities Depository Limited  16,991,671 6.41%

HPF Investments Limited  14,184,110 5.35%

JB Were (NZ) Nominees Limited <54723 A/C>  10,115,940 3.82%

Andrew Richard Jacobs  5,050,000 1.90%

SIL Long Term Holdings Limited  4,000,000 1.51%

China Scot International Limited  3,224,126 1.22%

Forsyth Barr Custodians Limited <1-33>  3,088,683 1.16%

ASB Nominees Limited <A/C 208053 - ML>  3,014,180 1.14%

Investment Custodial Services Limited <990043238>  2,876,924 1.09%

John Handley  2,622,042 0.99%

Leveraged Equities Finance Limited  2,564,041 0.97%

FNZ Custodians Limited  2,533,675 0.96%

Trevor Alan Smith  2,354,317 0.89%

Troubadour Holdings Limited  2,331,943 0.88%

The Handley Foundation  2,000,000 0.75%

Custodial Services Limited <A/C 16>  1,884,618 0.71%

Sparkbox Investments Limited  1,875,481 0.71%

Custodial Services Limited <A/C 3>  1,805,041 0.68%

Cadre Investments Limited  1,782,834 0.67%

Total   125,072,260 47.19%

SUBSTANTIAL SECURITY HOLDERS
As at 2 July 2014 the following persons have given substantial security holder notices as shown by the register 
kept by the Company in accordance with section 35C of the Securities Markets Act 1988. The number of ordinary 
shares and the percentage of voting securities set out below are taken from the relevant substantial security holder 
notices.

Shareholder
Number of 

ordinary shares
Percentage of 

ordinary shares
Date of SSH 

Notice

Snakk Trustee Limited 22,711,540 10.99% 21 May 2013

China Scot Limited 11,293,540 4.43% 27 May 2013

Far East Associated Traders Limited 46,598,821 18.29% 27 May 2013

SeaDragon Limited 25,000,000 9.81% 27 May 2013

HPF Investments Limited 21,108,087 8.30% 31 May 2013

Snakk Trustee Limited 19,396,745 7.60% 31 May 2013

Snakk Trustee Limited 16,769,499 6.58% 14 June 2013

SeaDragon Limited 15,000,000 5.71% 22 August 2013

SeaDragon Limited 8,500,000 3.23% 1 November 2013

Far East Associated Traders Limited 41,132,634 15.65% 13 January 2014

2. INTERESTS’ REGISTER
Each company in the Group is required to maintain an interests’ register in which the particulars of certain 
transactions and matters involving the directors must be recorded. The interests’ registers for Snakk Media Limited 
and its subsidiaries are available for inspection at its registered office. When a director has declared an interest in 
a particular entity, as a shareholder or director, the declaration serves as notice that the director may benefit from 
any transaction between the Company and the identified entity.

ENTRIES IN THE INTERESTS’ REGISTER
The following entries were recorded in the interests register during the year:

a. Pursuant to the authority in the Parent company’s constitution, the Company has indemnified Derek Handley, 
Tim Alpe and Michelle Kong for liability as directors and officers.

b. Derek Handley entered into a service agreement with the Company pursuant to which he agreed to provide 
certain management and operational services to the Company and its subsidiaries for an annual fee of 
$125,000, which fee includes his remuneration as Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company.

3. DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS
Details of directors’ shareholdings as at 2 July 2014 are set out below:

Beneficially Associated Persons

Derek Handley Shares  -   40,772,634 

Derek Handley Share Options   1,500,000  - 

Michelle Kong Share Options   1,000,000  - 

Tim Alpe Share Options   1,000,000  - 

The term of the options is five years.
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4. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Details of the remuneration of each Director for the year ended 31 March 2014 is:

2014 2013

$ $

Directors of Snakk Media Limited

D Handley  125,000  125,000 

T Alpe – Appointed 28 January 2013  15,000   - 

M Kong – Appointed 28 January 2013  15,000   - 

S Joyce – Resigned 28 January 2013   -  29,167 

P Norman – Resigned 28 January 2013   -  29,166 

 155,000  183,333 

5. DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE
Snakk Media Limited indemnifies all current directors and officers of the Group against all liabilities (other than to 
the Company or a subsidiary) which arise out of the performance of their normal duties as directors or officers, 
unless the liability relates to conduct involving lack of good faith. To manage this risk, the Group has obtained 
indemnity insurance. The total cost of this insurance expensed in the Company during the financial year was $8,425 
(2013:$5,245).

6. DIRECTORS’ DISCLOSURES
The Boards of the Group’s subsidiaries are comprised of members from the Board of the Parent. Where appropriate 
for jurisdictional or operational issues, outside directors may be introduced.

Snakk Media Limited Status

D Handley Executive

T Alpe – Appointed 28 January 2013 Independent, Non-executive

M Kong – Appointed 28 January 2013 Independent, Non-executive

Agent M Group Limited

D Handley Executive

Snakk Media Pty Limited

D Handley Executive

M Ryan – Appointed 28 January 2013 Executive

7. EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION
During the period employees, including executive directors, within the Group received remuneration, termination 
payments and benefits which exceeded $100,000 as follows:

2014 2013

$110,000 - $120,000   - 1

$120,001 - $130,000 3 3

$140,001 - $150,000   - 1

$150,001 - $160,000   - 1

$190,001 - $200,000 2   - 

$200,001 - $210,000 1   - 

$220,001 - $230,000   - 1

$230,001 - $240,000   1 -

8. DONATIONS
No donations were made by the Company during the financial year ended 31 March 2014.

9. PAYMENTS MADE TO AUDITORS
The auditor for the Group is PricewaterhouseCoopers. Auditors remuneration is disclosed in Note 2 to the financial 
statements.
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The accompanying notes on pages 41 to 71 form part of these financial statements.

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2014

Group Group Company Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

Note $ $ $ $

Operating revenue 7,056,106 3,654,346   – 453,664

Direct media costs (4,175,694) (1,745,542)   –   – 

2,880,412 1,908,804   – 453,664

Other income 36,690   – 30,682   – 

Other gains/(losses) – net 3,10 88,002   – 122,799   – 

Finance income 184,271 24,250 190,502 63,495

Finance costs (10,976) (4,958) (3,759) (4)

Net finance income 173,295 19,292 186,743 63,491

Expenses

Depreciation 4 (14,549) (14,812) (2,419) (1,731)

Employee benefits 4 (2,648,421) (1,404,331) (413,561) (156,341)

Marketing and advertising 4 (231,860) (141,767) (153,734) (46,658)

Other expenses 4 (2,175,008) (1,557,145) (975,280) (807,289)

Total expenses (5,069,838) (3,118,054) (1,544,994) (1,012,019)

Loss before taxation (1,891,439) (1,189,958) (1,204,770) (494,864)

Income tax expense 5   –   –   –   – 

Loss after taxation 
attributable to the 
shareholders (1,891,439) (1,189,958) (1,204,770) (494,864)

Other comprehensive 
income

Items that may be sub-
sequently reclassified to 
profit or loss:

Change in foreign currency 
translation reserve 8 144,267  27,182   –   – 

Other comprehensive 
income after tax 144,267  27,182   –   – 

Total comprehensive loss 
for the year attributable 
to the shareholders (1,747,172) (1,162,776) (1,204,770) (494,864)

Loss per share:

Basic loss per share  
(New Zealand Dollars): 20 (0.74) (0.60)

Diluted loss per share  
(New Zealand Dollars): 20 (0.74) (0.60)

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF SNAKK 
MEDIA LIMITED
REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
We have audited the financial statements of Snakk 
Media Limited (“the Company”) on pages 35 to 71, 
which comprise the statements of financial position 
as at 31 March 2014, the statements of comprehensive 
income, statements of changes in equity and 
statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and 
the notes to the financial statements that include a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information for both the Company and the 
Group. The Group comprises the Company and the 
entities it controlled at 31 March 2014 or from time to 
time during the financial year.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors are responsible for the preparation of 
these financial statements in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting practice in New Zealand and that 
give a true and fair view of the matters to which they 
relate and for such internal controls as the Directors 
determine are necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with International Standards on 
Auditing (New Zealand) and International Standards on 
Auditing. These standards require that we comply with 
relevant ethical requirements and plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors 
consider the internal controls relevant to the Company 
and the Group’s preparation of financial statements 
that give a true and fair view of the matters to which 
they relate, in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 

of the Company and the Group’s internal control. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Other than in our capacity as auditors we have no 
relationship with, or interests in, Snakk Media Limited 
or any of its subsidiaries.

OPINION
In our opinion, the financial statements on pages 
 35 to 71:
(i) comply with generally accepted accounting practice 
in New Zealand; 
(ii) comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards; and
(iii) give a true and fair view of the financial position of 
the Company and the Group as at 31 March 2014, and 
their financial performance and cash flows for the year 
then ended.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND 
REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
We also report in accordance with Sections 16(1)(d) and 
16(1)(e) of the Financial Reporting Act 1993. In relation 
to our audit of the financial statements for the year 
ended 31 March 2014:
(i)  we have obtained all the information and 
explanations that we have required; and
(ii) in our opinion, proper accounting records have 
been kept by the Company as far as appears from an 
examination of those records.

RESTRICTION ON USE OF OUR REPORT
This report is made solely to the Company’s 
shareholders, as a body, in accordance with Section 
205(1) of the Companies Act 1993. Our audit work 
has been undertaken so that we might state to the 
Company’s shareholders those matters which we are 
required to state to them in an auditors’ report and 
for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted 
by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to 
anyone other than the Company and the Company’s 
shareholders, as a body, for our audit work, for this 
report or for the opinions we have formed.

Chartered Accountants
Auckland 
24 July 2014

Snakk Media Limited Annual Report 201434.
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2014 

GROUP Attributable to Equity holders of the Company

Note
Share  

Capital 

Share 
options 
reserve

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Accumulat-
ed Losses

Total  
Equity

$ $ $ $ $

Balance at 1 April 2012 6,7,8 2,810,457 212,720 (35,401) (2,088,146) 899,630

Comprehensive loss for the 
year

Loss for the year   -  -  - (1,189,958) (1,189,958)

Other comprehensive 
income
Items that may be 
subsequently reclassified 
to profit or loss:

Change in foreign currency 
translation reserve   -  - 27,182  - 27,182

Total comprehensive in-
come/(loss) for the year   -  27,182 (1,189,958) (1,162,776)

Transactions with owners 
of the Company

Issue of ordinary shares 811,535  -  -  - 811,535

Share-based payment 
transactions   - 291,653  -  - 291,653

Total contributions by 
owners of the Company 6 811,535 291,653  -  - 1,103,188

Balance at 31 March 2013 6,7,8 3,621,992 504,373 (8,219) (3,278,104) 840,042

Balance at 1 April 2013 6,7,8 3,621,992 504,373 (8,219) (3,278,104) 840,042

Comprehensive loss for the 
year

Loss for the year   -  -   - (1,891,439) (1,891,439)

Other comprehensive 
income
Items that may be sub-
sequently reclassified to 
profit or loss:

Change in foreign currency 
translation reserve   -  - 144,267  - 144,267

Total comprehensive in-
come/(loss) for the year   -  - 144,267 (1,891,439) (1,747,172)

Transactions with owners 
of the Company

Issue of ordinary shares 6,715,188  -   -  - 6,715,188

Share-based payment 
transactions   - 481,731   -  - 481,731

Total contributions by 
owners of the Company 6 6,715,188 481,731   -  - 7,196,919

Balance at 31 March 2014 6,7,8 10,337,180 986,104 136,048 (5,169,543) 6,289,789

The accompanying notes on pages 41 to 71  form part of these financial statements.

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2014 (CONTINUED)

COMPANY Attributable to Equity holders of the Company

Note
Share  

Capital 

Share 
options 
reserve

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Acc-umu-
lated 

Losses
Total  

Equity

$ $ $ $ $

Balance at 1 April 2012 6,7,8 6,264,200 212,720  - (244,003) 6,232,917

Comprehensive loss for the 
year

Loss for the year   -  -  - (494,864) (494,864)

Total other comprehensive 
income   -  -  -  -   - 

Total comprehensive loss 
for the year   -  -  - (494,864) (494,864)

Transactions with owners 
of the Company

Issue of ordinary shares 811,535  -  -  - 811,535

Share-based payment 
transactions   - 291,653  -  - 291,653

Total contributions by 
owners of the Company 6 811,535 291,653  -  - 1,103,188

Balance at 31 March 2013 6,7,8 7,075,735 504,373  - (738,867) 6,841,241

Balance at 1 April 2013 6,7,8 7,075,735 504,373  - (738,867) 6,841,241

Comprehensive loss for the 
year

Loss for the year   -  -   - (1,204,770) (1,204,770)

Total other comprehensive 
income   -  -   -  -   - 

Total comprehensive loss 
for the year   -  -   - (1,204,770) (1,204,770)

Transactions with owners 
of the Company

Issue of ordinary shares 6,715,188  -   -  - 6,715,188

Share-based payment 
transactions   - 481,731   -  - 481,731

Total contributions by 
owners of the Company 6 6,715,188 481,731   -  - 7,196,919

Balance at 31 March 2014 6,7,8 13,790,923 986,104  - (1,943,637) 12,833,390

The accompanying notes on pages 41 to 71  form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 MARCH 2014

For and on behalf of the Board

Group Group Company Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

Note $ $ $ $

Equity

Share capital 6 10,337,180 3,621,992 13,790,923 7,075,735

Share option reserve 6 986,104 504,373 986,104 504,373

Accumulated losses 7 (5,169,543) (3,278,104) (1,943,637) (738,867)

Foreign currency transla-
tion reserve 8 136,048 (8,219)   -   - 

Total equity 6,289,789 840,042 12,833,390 6,841,241

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 9 2,874,643 1,363,362 168,440 104,023

Derivative financial
instruments 10 34,797   -   -   - 

Total current liabilities 2,909,440 1,363,362 168,440 104,023

Total liabilities 2,909,440 1,363,362 168,440 104,023

Total equity and
liabilities 9,199,229 2,203,404 13,001,830 6,945,264

Assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and
equipment 13 13,247 13,320 1,209   3,628 

Investment in subsidiary 
undertakings 15   -   - 5,000,000 5,000,000

Trade and other receivables 12 153,469   - 153,469   - 

Other financial assets 16 430,171   - 430,171   - 

Advances to subsidiary 
undertakings 17   -   - 1,590,098 974,901

Total non-current assets 596,887 13,320 7,174,947 5,978,529

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 11 6,363,002 1,244,463 5,680,381 932,380

Trade and other receivables 12 2,179,117 923,473 86,541 23,086

Taxation receivable 5 60,223 22,148 59,961 11,269

Total current assets 8,602,342 2,190,084 5,826,883 966,735

Total assets 9,199,229 2,203,404 13,001,830 6,945,264

Derek Handley
Chair and Director
24 July 2014

Michelle Kong
Director
24 July 2014

The accompanying notes on pages 41 to 71  form part of these financial statements.

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2014

Group Group Company Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

Note $ $ $ $

Operating activities

Cash was provided from:

Receipts from customers  5,812,880  3,269,032  30,682  -  

Cash was applied to:

Payments to suppliers & 
employees (7,009,546) (4,086,044) (1,032,633) (801,369)

Net cash applied to op-
erating activities 14 (1,196,666) (817,012) (1,001,951) (801,369)

Investing activities

Cash was provided from:

Finance income 184,271  24,250 190,502 63,495

Cash was applied to:

Purchase of property, plant 
and equipment (14,476) (16,885)  -  (5,359)

Purchase of other financial 
assets 16 (307,372)  -  (307,372)  -  

Loans advanced 12 (200,000)  -  (200,000)  -  

Advances to subsidiaries  -    - (585,960) (168,908)

Net cash from/(applied) 
to investing activities (337,557) 7,365 (902,830) (110,772)

Financing activities

Cash was provided from:

Proceeds from share issue 6,652, 782  811,535 6,652, 782 811,535

Net cash provided from 
financing activities 6,652, 782  811,535 6,652, 782 811,535

Net increase/(decrease) 
in cash and cash equiva-
lents held 5,118,539   1,888 4,748,001 (100,606)

Cash & cash equivalents at 
beginning of the year 1,244,463  1,242,575 932,380 1,032,986

Cash & cash equivalents 
at end of the year 6,363,002  1,244,463 5,680,381 932,380

Composition of cash and 
cash equivalents:

Bank balances 11 6,363,002  1,244,463 5,680,381 932,380

The accompanying notes on pages 41 to 71  form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR 
ENDED 31 MARCH 
2014

1. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INTRODUCTION
Snakk Media Limited is a company incorporated in New 
Zealand, registered under the Companies Act 1993. 

Financial statements for Snakk Media Limited (the 
“Company”) and consolidated financial statements are 
presented. 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the 
Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) 
and the comparative financial period is for the year 
ended 31 March 2013.

The financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the Financial Reporting Act 1993.

These consolidated financial statements have been 
approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 24 July 
2014. The Company’s owners do not have the power to 
amend the financial statements after issue.

The principal activity of the Company is the provision of 
end to end mobile media solutions. 

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES
The principal accounting policies adopted in the 
preparation of the financial statements are set out 
below. These policies have been consistently applied 
to all the periods presented, unless otherwise stated. 
The financial statements include separate financial 
statements for Snakk Media Limited as an individual 
entity and the Group consisting of Snakk Media Limited 
and its subsidiaries.

1.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION
These general purpose financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice in New Zealand. The financial 
statements comply with the New Zealand equivalents 
to International Financial Reporting Standards (NZ 
IFRS’s) and any other applicable Financial Reporting 
Standards as appropriate to profit oriented entities.

COMPLIANCE WITH IFRS
The financial statements comply with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

HISTORICAL COST CONVENTION
These financial statements have been prepared under 
the historical cost convention as modified for the 
revaluation of certain assets and liabilities as set out in 
the accounting policies below.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
The preparation of financial statements in conformity 
with NZ IFRS requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates judgments and assumptions 
that affect the application of accounting policies and 
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income 
and expenses. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions of accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which 
the estimates are revised and in any future periods 
affected. The preparation of financial statements in 
conformity with NZ IFRS also requires management to 
exercise its judgment in the process of applying the 
Company’s accounting policies. The areas involving 
a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas 
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the 
financial statements are disclosed in 
note 2.

1.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
There have been no significant changes in accounting 
policies during the current year. 
Accounting policies have been applied on a basis 
consistent with the prior annual financial statements.

ADOPTION STATUS OF RELEVANT NEW FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

(i) New and amended standards adopted by the Group:
The following standards have been adopted by the 
Group for the first time for the financial year beginning 
on or after 1 April 2013:

The group has adopted External Reporting Board 
Standard A1 Accounting Standards Framework (For-
profit Entities Update) (XRB A1). XRB A1 establishes 
a for-profit tier structure and outlines which suite of 
accounting standards entities in different tiers must 
follow. The group is a Tier 1 entity. There was no impact 
on the current or prior year financial statements.
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Amendment to NZ IAS 1, ‘Financial statement 
presentation’ regarding other comprehensive income. 
The main change resulting from these amendments 
is a requirement for entities to group items presented 
in ‘other comprehensive income’ (OCI) on the basis of 
whether they are potentially reclassifiable to profit or 
loss subsequently (reclassification adjustments). The 
amendment also clarifies that when an entity produces 
an additional balance sheet as required by NZ IAS 8, no 
notes are required to support this balance sheet.
Amendment to NZ IFRS 7, ‘Financial instruments: 
Disclosures’, on asset and liability offsetting. This 
amendment includes new disclosures to facilitate 
comparison between those entities that prepare NZ 
IFRS financial statements to those that prepare financial 
statements in accordance with US GAAP.

NZ IFRS 10, ‘Consolidated financial statements’ builds 
on existing principles by identifying the concept 
of control as the determining factor in whether an 
entity should be included within the consolidated 
financial statements of the parent company. The 
standard provides additional guidance to assist in the 
determination of control where this is difficult to assess. 

NZ IFRS 12, ‘Disclosures of interests in other entities’ 
includes the disclosure requirements for all forms of 
interests in other entities, including joint arrangements, 
associates, structured entities and other off balance 
sheet vehicles.

NZ IFRS 13, ‘Fair value measurement’, aims to improve 
consistency and reduce complexity by providing a 
precise definition of fair value and a single source of 
fair value measurement and disclosure requirements 
for use across NZ IFRSs. The requirements, which are 
largely aligned between NZ IFRSs and US GAAP, do not 
extend the use of fair value accounting but provide 
guidance on how it should be applied where its use is 
already required or permitted by other standards within 
NZ IFRSs. 

Adoption of these standards has resulted in a number 
of additional disclosures in the financial statements 
but has not resulted in any material measurements 
changes.

There are no other NZ IFRS, NZ IFRIC interpretations or 
other applicable IFRS that are effective for the first time 
for the financial year beginning on or after 1 April 2013 

that would be expected to have a material impact on 
the financial statements.

(ii) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted 
by the Group:

The following new standards, amendments and 
interpretations to existing standards that are not yet 
effective and have not been early adopted by the 
Group;

NZ IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. This standard 
addresses the classification, measurement and 
derecognition of financial assets and financial 
liabilities. NZ IFRS 9 was issued in November 2009 
and October 2010. It is intended to replace NZ IAS 
39. NZ IFRS 9 requires financial assets to be classified 
into two measurement categories: those measured 
as at fair value and those measured at amortised 
cost. The determination is made at initial recognition. 
The classification depends on the entity’s business 
model for managing its financial instruments and 
contractual cash flow characteristics of the instrument. 
For financial liabilities, the standard retains most 
of NZ IAS 39 requirements. The main change is that 
in cases where the fair value option is taken for 
financial liabilities, the part of the fair value change 
due to an entity’s own credit risk is recorded in other 
comprehensive income rather than the income 
statement, unless this creates an accounting mismatch. 
The Group is yet to assess NZ IFRS 9’s full impact and 
intends to adopt NZ IFRS 9 no later than 1 April 2017. 

NZ IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’ 
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2017). IFRS 15 addresses recognition of revenue 
from contracts with customers. It replaces the current 
revenue recognition guidance in IAS 18 Revenue and 
IAS 11 Construction contracts and is applicable to all 
entities with revenue. It sets out a 5 step model for 
revenue recognition to depict the transfer of promised 
goods or services to customers in an amount that 
reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to 
be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The 
Group has yet to assess IFRS 15’s full impact. The Group 
will apply this standard from 1 April 2017.

There are no other NZ IFRSs or NZ IFRIC interpretations 
that are not yet effective that would be expected to 
have a material impact on the Group.

1.3 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

SUBSIDIARIES
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured 
entities) over which the group has control. The group 
controls an entity when the group is exposed to, or has 
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the 
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through 
its power over the entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on 
which control is transferred to the Group. They are 
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised 
gains on transactions between Group companies are 
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless 
the transaction provides evidence of the impairment 
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of 
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to 
ensure consistency with the polices adopted by the 
Group. 

The Company’s investments in subsidiaries are shown 
at cost less impairment losses.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
The acquisition method of accounting is used to 
account for all business acquisitions regardless 
of whether equity instruments or other assets are 
acquired. Consideration is measured as the fair value 
of the asset given, shares issued or liabilities incurred 
or assumed at the date of exchange and includes 
any assets or liabilities arising from contingent 
consideration. Where equity instruments are issued 
in an acquisition, the value of the instruments is their 
published market price as at the date of exchange 
unless, in rare circumstances, it can be demonstrated 
that the published price at the date of exchange is 
an unreliable indicator of fair value and that other 
evidence and valuation methods provide a more 
reliable measure of fair value. Transaction costs arising 
on the issue of equity instruments are recognised 
directly in equity. Other acquisition related costs are 
expensed as incurred.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and 
contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are measured initially at their fair values 
at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of 
any non-controlling interest. The excess of the cost 
of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share 

of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as 
goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair 
value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the 
difference is recognised directly in the profit or loss, 
but only after a reassessment of the identification and 
measurement of the net assets acquired.

1.4 REVENUE

SERVICES SOLD
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable for the sale of services, excluding 
Goods and Services Tax, after eliminating sales within 
the Group. Revenue is recognised as follows:

I. ADVERTISING FEES
Advertising fees are recognised on a basis that reflects 
the stage of completion based on contracted views of 
the advertising services performed. Where amounts 
are received from clients in advance of services being 
performed the amounts are recognised as deferred 
income in the Statements of Financial Position.
This represents the operating revenue of the Group.

II. MANAGEMENT FEE INCOME
Management fee income is recognised on an accruals 
basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant 
agreements.
This represents the operating income of the Company.

III. INTEREST INCOME
Interest is recognised as it accrues using the effective 
interest rate method.

1.5 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, 
deposits held at call with banks and other short term, 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of 
three months or less.

1.6 INTANGIBLES ASSETS - GOODWILL
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an 
acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of 
the net identifiable assets of the acquired business at 
the date of acquisition. Goodwill acquired in business 
combinations is not amortised. Instead, goodwill is 
tested for impairment annually or more frequently 
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
it might be impaired, and is carried at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on 
the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of 
goodwill of the entity sold.
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Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the 
purpose of impairment testing.

1.7 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical 
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 
When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment 
have different useful lives, they are accounted for as 
separate items (major components) of property, plant 
and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s 
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, 
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the Company and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged 
to the profit or loss during the financial period in which 
they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line 
method to allocate the cost, net of their residual values, 
over the estimated useful lives, which are currently and 
for the prior year, as follows:

Category
Estimated useful life 
(years)

Office Equipment 2

The assets’ residual values, depreciation methods and 
useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at 
each reporting date.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by 
comparing proceeds with the carrying amount.
These are included in the profit and loss component
of the Statements of Comprehensive Income.

1.8 TRADE PAYABLES
Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method.

1.9 SEGMENT REPORTING
Operating segments are reported in a manner 
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the 
chief operating decision maker. The chief operating 
decision maker is the Board of Directors.

1.10 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION 
CURRENCY
Items included in the financial statements use the 
currency of the primary economic environment in 
which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). 
The financial statements are presented in New Zealand 
dollars which is Snakk Media Limited’s functional and 
presentation currency.

TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the 
respective functional currencies of Company entities 
at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the 
functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. 
The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is 
the difference between amortised cost in the functional 
currency at the beginning of the period, adjusted for 
effective interest and payments during the period, and 
the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the 
exchange rate at the end of the period. Non-monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
that are measured at fair value are retranslated to the 
functional currency at the exchange rate at the date 
that the fair value was determined. Foreign currency 
differences arising on retranslation are recognised in 
the Statements of Comprehensive Income.

GROUP COMPANIES
The results and financial position of all of the Group’s 
entities that have a functional currency different from 
the presentation currency are translated into the 
presentation currency as follows:

• Assets and liabilities for each Statement of Financial 
Position presented are translated at the closing rate 
of the date of that Statement of Financial Position;

• Income and expenses for each profit or loss are 
translated at the average exchange rate for the 
month;

• All resulting exchange differences are recognised as 
a separate component of equity.

1.11 IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS

FINANCIAL ASSETS
A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date 
to determine whether there is any objective evidence 
that it is impaired. A financial asset is considered to 
be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one 
or more events have had a negative effect on the 
estimated future cash flows of that asset.

(A) ASSETS CARRIED AT AMORTISED COST
An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset 
measured at amortised cost is calculated as the 
difference between its carrying amount, and the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the original effective interest rate.
Individually significant financial assets are tested for 
impairment on an individual basis.

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be 
related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment loss was recognised. 

For financial assets measured at amortised cost the 
reversal is recognised in the profit and loss component 
of the Statements of Comprehensive Income.

NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial 
assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any 
such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable 
amount is estimated.

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are 
grouped together into the smallest group of assets 
that generates cash inflows from continuing use that 
are largely independent of the cash inflows of other 
assets or groups of assets (the “cash-generating unit”). 
A cash generating unit identified cannot be larger than 
an operating segment identified per NZ IFRS 8. The 
recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating unit 
is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less 
costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount 
of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its 

estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses 
are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses 
recognised in respect of cash-generating units are 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any 
goodwill allocated to the units and then to reduce the 
carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (group 
of units) on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not 
reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses 
recognised in prior periods are assessed at each 
reporting date for any indications that the loss has 
decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is 
reversed if there has been a change in the estimates 
used to determine the recoverable amount. An 
impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the 
asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had 
been recognised.

1.12 INCOME TAX
The tax expense for the period comprises current 
and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit and 
loss component of the Statements of Comprehensive 
Income, except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly 
in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.
The current income tax charge is calculated on 
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively 
enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries 
where the company and its subsidiaries operate and 
generate taxable income. Management periodically 
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to 
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject 
to interpretation. It establishes provisions where 
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be 
paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised on temporary 
differences arising between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the 
consolidated financial statements. However, deferred 
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the 
initial recognition of goodwill; deferred income tax is 
not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition 
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than 
a business combination that at the time of the 
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable 
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined 
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using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date 
and are expected to apply when the related deferred 
income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax 
liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will 
be available against which the temporary differences 
can be utilised.

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable 
temporary differences arising from investments in 
subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements, except 
for deferred income tax liability where the timing of the 
reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the 
Group and it is probable that the temporary difference 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Generally 
the Group is unable to control the reversal of the 
temporary difference for associates. Only where there 
is an agreement in place that gives the Group the ability 
to control the reversal of the temporary difference not 
recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on 
deductible temporary differences arising from 
investments in subsidiaries only to the extent that it is 
probable the temporary difference will reverse in the 
future and there is sufficient taxable profit available 
against which the temporary difference can be utilised.  
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset 
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and 
when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities 
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority on either the same taxable entity or different 
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the 
balances on a net basis.

1.13 FINANCIAL ASSETS
The Company and Group classifies their financial assets 
in the following categories: at fair value through profit 
or loss, and loans and receivables. The classification 
depends on the purpose for which the financial 
assets were acquired. Management determines the 
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. 
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are 
recognised on the trade-date – the date on which the 
group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

LOANS AND RECEIVABLES
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial 

assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market. They are included in 
current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 
months after the end of the reporting period. These 
are classified as non-current assets. The group’s 
loans and receivables comprise ‘trade and other 
receivables’, ‘cash and cash equivalents’ and ‘advances 
to subsidiaries’ in the balance sheet.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH THE 
PROFIT OR LOSS
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are 
financial assets representing investments in units or 
convertible notes. Financial assets are designated in 
this category if they are managed and performance is 
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the 
Group’s investment strategy. Assets in this category are 
classified as current assets if expected to be settled 
within 12 months, otherwise they are classified as non-
current.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are only offset 
if there is a currently legally enforceable right of offset 
and the Group intends to settle on a net basis, or to 
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

(I) TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at 
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, less 
impairment losses. Receivables of a short term nature 
are not discounted. 

The collection of trade receivables is reviewed 
on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to 
be uncollectible are written off. An allowance for 
impairment losses is established when there is 
objective evidence that the Group will not be able to 
collect all amounts due according to the original terms 
of receivables.

(II) FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 
THE PROFIT OR LOSS
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are 
financial assets held for investing. Financial assets 
measured at fair value through profit or loss are initially 
recognised at fair value, and transaction costs are 
expensed in the income statement. Gains or losses 
arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss’ category 
are presented in the profit and loss component of the 
Statements of Comprehensive Income within ‘Other 

(losses)/gains – net’ in the period in which they arise.

(III) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand; 
deposits held at call with financial institutions; other 
short-term, highly liquid investments with original 
maturities of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value; and 
bank overdrafts.

(IV) ADVANCES TO SUBSIDIARIES
Advances to subsidiaries are recognised initially at fair 
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, 
less any impairment losses.

1.14 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS
The Group has various derivative financial instruments 
to manage the exposures that arise due to movements 
in foreign currency exchange rates arising from 
operational activities. Derivatives are recognised 
initially at fair value and attributable transaction 
costs are recognised in profit or loss when incurred. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are 
measured at fair value, and any changes are recognised 
immediately in the profit and loss component of the 
Statements of Comprehensive Income within “Other 
gains / (losses).  The fair value of forward exchange 
contracts is estimated by discounting the difference 
between the contractual forward price and the current 
forward price for the residual maturity of the contract 
using a risk-free interest rate (based on government 
bonds).

1.15 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and 
services provided to the Group prior to the end of the 
financial period that are unpaid at the reporting date. 
The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 
30 days of recognition. Trade payables are recognised 
initially at fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 
Payables of a short term nature are not discounted.

1.16 PROVISIONS
A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, 
the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation 
that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable 

that an outflow of economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined 
by discounting the expected future cash flows at a 
pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to 
the liability. Provisions are not recognised for future 
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the 
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement 
is determined by considering the class of obligations as 
a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood 
of an outflow with respect to any one item included in 
the same class of obligations may be small.

1.17 WAGES AND SALARIES, ANNUAL 
LEAVE AND SICK LEAVE
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits, annual leave and sick leave 
expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting 
date are recognised in other payables in respect of 
employees’ services up to the reporting date and are 
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when 
the liabilities are settled on an undiscounted basis. The 
Group has no obligations in relation to long service or 
post-employment benefits.

1.18 LEASES
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and 
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are 
classified as operating leases. Payments made under 
operating leases (net of any incentives received 
from the lessor) are charged to the profit and loss 
component of the Statements of Comprehensive 
Income on a straight-line basis over the lease.

1.19 EARNINGS PER SHARE

BASIC EARNINGS OR LOSS PER SHARE
Basic earnings or loss per share is calculated by dividing 
the profit or loss attributable to equity holders of the 
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding during the financial period.

DILUTED EARNINGS OR LOSS PER SHARE
Diluted earnings or loss per share is calculated by 
adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding during the financial period, adjusted 
by the exchange ratio arising from share options issued 
by the Company, to assume conversion of all dilutive 
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potential ordinary shares.

1.20 CONTRIBUTED EQUITY
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue 
of new shares or options are shown in equity as a 
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

1.21 GOODS AND SERVICES TAX (GST)
The Statements of Comprehensive Income and 
Statements of Cash Flows have been prepared so that 
all components are stated exclusive of GST. All items 
in the Statements of Financial Position are stated net 
of GST, with the exception of receivables and payables, 
which include GST invoiced.

1.22 FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSES
Finance income comprises interest income on funds 
invested. Interest income is recognised as it accrues, 
using the effective interest method.

Finance expense comprises interest expense on 
borrowings. All borrowing costs are recognised in 
the Statements of Comprehensive Income using 
the effective interest method except if they relate to 
qualifying assets in which case they are capitalised to 
that asset.

1.23 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
For equity settled share based payment transactions, 
the grant date fair value of options granted to 
employees is recognised as an employee expense, with 
a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in 
which the employees become unconditionally entitled 
to the options.

1.24 DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES
A number of the Company’s accounting policies and 
disclosures require the determination of fair value, for 
both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. 
Fair values have been determined for measurement 
and / or disclosure purposes based on the following 
methods. When applicable, further information about 
the assumptions made in determining fair values is 
disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability. 

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
The fair value of trade and other receivables is 
estimated as the present value of future cash flows, 
discounted at the current market rate of interest at the 

reporting date. Receivables of a short term nature are 
not discounted.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH THE PROFIT AND LOSS
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value 
of the Financial assets category are presented in the 
profit and loss component of the income Statement of 
Comprehensive Income  within ‘Other (losses)/gains – 
net’ in the period in which they arise.

NON-DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, 
is calculated based on the present value of future 
principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the 
current market rate of interest at the reporting date. 
Payables of a short term nature are not discounted.

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining 
and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments 
and other financial assets by valuation technique:

• Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities

• Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which 
have a significant effect on the recorded fair value 
are observable, either directly or indirectly

• Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a 
significant effect on the recorded fair value that are 
not based on observable market data.

2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 
AND JUDGMENTS
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated 
and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 
ASSUMPTIONS
The Company makes estimates and assumptions 
concerning the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related 
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial period are discussed below.

I. CARRYING VALUE OF THE INVESTMENT IN 
SUBSIDIARY AND ADVANCES TO SUBSIDIARIES
In determining the recoverable values of the Company’s 
investment in its subsidiary and the advances to 
subsidiaries, the Directors have considered the recent 
issue price of shares and the future strategic direction 
of the Group. In the event the strategic direction of the 
Group is adversely affected the carrying value of the 
investment in subsidiary of $5 million (2013:$5 million) 
and advances to subsidiaries of $1,590,098 (2013: 
$974,901) may be irrecoverable.

II. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
The fair value of Financial assets held at fair value 
through the profit or loss (excluding derivatives) falls 
into level 3 fair value measurement, refer to Note 1.22 
for information on the measurement of fair values. 

Convertible units
When determining the fair value of the convertible 
units the Directors have used subsequent pricing of 
convertible unit offerings by Moasis Global LLC as a 
basis for determining fair value, before converting the 
fair value of the investment denominated in US dollars 
at the closing exchange rate at balance date. See note 
16 and 21.

Convertible notes
The Directors have considered that there has been no 
material change in the underlying business operation 
of Plyfe, Inc. following the investment in Plyfe, Inc. 
convertible notes in February 2014. With no observable 
data available when determining the fair value of the 
convertible notes, the Directors consider the fair value 
to be the purchase price and carrying value of the 
investment, converted from US dollars at the closing 
exchange rate at balance date. See note 16 and 21. 

In subsequent reporting periods the fair value of the 
investments in Moasis Global LLC and Plyfe, INC. could 
be materially different in the event of movements in 
the US dollar exchange rate and/or changes in the 
operating and/or financial performance of these 
businesses. A range of sensitivities is disclosed in note 
21 (vi). 

III. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS
In determining the fair value of options issued 
to Directors, Key Management, Employees and 
Contractors certain assumptions have been adopted 
which have a material impact on the share based 
payment expense recognised over the vesting period. 
Significant assumptions are set out in 
note 25. The fair value of options issued is most 
sensitive to the share price volatility assumption. The 
share price volatility of 100% has been determined by 
reference to the Company’s listed share price trading 
history since listing in March 2013 and the volatility of 
listed equity securities for businesses of a similar nature 
to the company operating in the media industry.

IV. DEFERRED TAX ASSET
The Directors are of the view there is not a reasonable 
probability that the tax losses available to the Company 
and Group will be able to be utilised in the foreseeable 
future. The deferred tax benefit of those tax losses 
has therefore not been recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Position. See note 5.
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3. OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES) – NET

Group Group Company Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

Note $ $ $ $

Financial assets at fair val-
ue through profit or loss

Fair value gains 21  135,264   -  135,264   - 

Fair value losses 21  (12,465)   -  (12,465)   - 

Foreign exchange forward 
contracts held for trading  (34,797)   -  -   - 

 88,002   - 122,799   - 

4. EXPENSES
Group Group Company Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

Note $ $ $ $

Loss before income tax 
includes the following 
expenses:

Depreciation expense - 
office equipment  14,549  14,812  2,419  1,731 

Directors' fees  155,000  183,333  155,000  183,333 

Operating lease expense  167,058  129,273  27,531  10,151 

Share options granted to 
Directors and contractors 25  141,518  180,943  141,521  180,943 

Employee benefits

Salaries and wages  2,137,053  1,199,489  70,953  45,415 

Superannuation contri-
butions  171,155  94,132  2,398  216 

Share options granted to 
employees 25  340,213  110,710  340,210  110,710 

 2,648,421  1,404,331  413,561  156,341 

Auditors' remuneration 
comprises:

The auditor for Snakk 
Media Limited is Pricewa-
terhouseCoopers.

Fees paid to Pricewater-
houseCoopers for:

Audit of the financial 
statements  65,000  45,000  65,000  45,000 

No other services have been provided by the auditor.

5. INCOME TAX
Group Group Company Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

Note $ $ $ $

Income tax expense

Current tax  -   -   -   -  

Deferred tax  -   -   -   -  

Income tax expense  -   -   -   -  

Reconciliation of income 
tax expense to prima facie 
tax payable

Loss before tax:  (1,891,439)  (1,189,958)  (1,204,770)  (494,864) 

Taxation benefit at the 
rate of:

Australia 30% 
(2013: 30%) of loss  202,664  121,250  -   -  

NZ 28% 
(2013: 28%) of loss  340,450  220,021  337,336  138,562 

Non-deductible expenses  (150,952)  (86,986)  (135,103 )  (82,147) 

Taxation effect of tempo-
rary differences  (27,484)   (16,670)  (34,785)  -  

Future benefit of tax losses 
not recognised  (364,678)  (237,615)  (237,018)  (56,415) 

Income tax expense  -   -   -   -  

Tax refund  
– New Zealand  (60,223)  (22,148)  (59,961)  (11,269) 
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IMPUTATION CREDITS – NEW ZEALAND 

Group Group

2014 2013

$ $

Imputation credits available for subsequent  
reporting periods based on a tax rate of 28% 71,360 11,399

The Company has an unrecognised deferred tax asset 
in respect of tax losses of $1,078,241 - tax effect of 
$301,907 (2013: tax losses of $231,748 – tax effect of 
$64,889) which are available to be carried forward to 
reduce future income tax liabilities in New Zealand.

The Company’s Australian subsidiary has an 
unrecognised deferred tax asset in respect of tax losses 
of $930,309 - tax effect of $279,093 (2013: tax losses 
of $515,159 - tax effect of $154,548) which are available 
to be carried forward to reduce future income tax 
liabilities in Australia.

The Company’s New Zealand subsidiary has an 
unrecognised deferred tax asset in respect of tax losses 
of $326,051 - tax effect of $91,294 (2013: tax losses of 

$314,927 – tax effect of $88,180) which are available 
to be carried forward to reduce future income tax 
liabilities in New Zealand.

Utilisation of the tax losses is subject to compliance 
with income tax legislation on continuity of 
shareholders and/or “business” activities and the 
availability of future taxable income.

The Directors are of the view there is not a reasonable 
probability that the tax losses will be utilised in the 
foreseeable future. The deferred tax benefit of those 
losses has therefore not been recognised in the 
Statements of Financial Position.

6. SHARE CAPITAL AND OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

ISSUED AND PAID UP CAPITAL
All shares issued are ordinary shares with no par value and rank equally with one vote attached to each fully paid 
share. Issued shares are detailed below.

Group Group Company Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

Note $ $ $ $

Issued and paid up cap-
ital:

Balances at the start of 
the year 3,621,992  2,810,457 7,075,735  6,264,200 

Ordinary shares issued 
during the year  6,715,188  811,535   6,715,188  811,535 

Balance at the end of 
the year 10,337,180 3,621,992 13,790,923 7,075,735

Movement in Ordinary 
Shares

Company Note
Number of 

shares
Issue price 

(cents) $

Balance 1 April 2012 193,914,665  6,264,200 

Movements during the year

800,000 shares issued at 
$0.05 each on 30/4/2012 800,000 5.0  40,000 

198,000 shares issued at 
$0.05 each on 31/8/2012 198,000 5.0   9,900 

5,838,465 shares issued at 
$0.065 each on 1/12/2012 5,838,465 6.5  379,500 

5,878,994 shares issued at 
$0.065 each on 14/1/2013 5,878,994 6.5  382,135 

Balance 31 March 2013 206,630,124  7,075,735 

Balance 1 April 2013 206,630,124  7,075,735 

Movements during the year

48,198,905 shares issued 
at $0.12 each on 24/5/2013  48,198,905 12.0  5,783,869 

5,573,857 shares issued at 
$0.12 each on 17/6/2013 5,573,857 12.0  668,863 

960,098 shares issued at 
$0.065 each on 17/6/2013 23 960,098 6.5  62,406 

1,500,000 shares issued at 
$0.05 each on 17/6/2013 25 1,500,000 5.0  75,000 

1,500,000 shares issued at 
$0.05 each on 3/2/2014 25 1,500,000 5.0  75,000 

770,000 shares issued at 
$0.065 each on 14/3/2014 25 770,000 6.5  50,050 

Balance 31 March 2014 265,132,984   13,790,923 

Shares issued in the year ended 31 March 2014 at $0.05 and $0.065 were issued in accordance with the share based 
payments plan (refer note 25).
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SHARE OPTION RESERVE
The share option reserve is used to record the accumulated value of unexercised share options and unvested 
shares rights which have been recognised in the Statements of Comprehensive Income. As at balance date, 
directors, executives and employees and contractors have options over 18,380,298 shares (2013: 13,870,000). See 
note 25.

Group Group Company Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

$ $ $ $

Balance at the start of the year 504,373  212,720 504,373  212,720 

Share based payment  481,731  291,653  481,731  291,653 

Balance at the end of the year 986,104 504,373 986,104 504,373

7. ACCUMULATED LOSSES
Group Group Company Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

$ $ $ $

Balance at the start of the year (3,278,104) (2,088,146) (738,867) (244,003)

Loss for the year (1,891,439) (1,189,958) (1,204,770) (494,864)

Balance at the end of the year (5,169,543) (3,278,104) (1,943,637) (738,867)

8. FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION RESERVE

Group Group Company Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

$ $ $ $

Balance at the start of the year (8,219) (35,401)  -   - 

Gain from translation of foreign 
operations for the year 144,267 27,182  -   - 

Balance at the end of the year 136,048 (8,219)  -   - 

Exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign controlled entity are taken to the foreign currency 
translation reserve.

9. CURRENT LIABILITIES

Group Group Company Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

Note $ $ $ $

Trade payables  2,159,727  691,311  58,499  27,146 

Sundry payables and 
accruals  666,054  551,250  61,079  76,877 

Amounts due to related 
parties 23  48,862  -   48,862  -  

Deferred income  -   120,801  -   -  

  2,874,643  1,363,362  168,440  104,023 

Trade payables are typically payable within 60 days and are interest free.

10. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Group Group Company Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

$ $ $ $

Current Liabilities

Forward exchange contracts - held-
for-trading  34,797 -  -   -  

Trading derivatives are classified as a current liability. The full fair value the derivative has a remaining maturity 
of less than 12 months. The notional principal amounts of the outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts at 
31 March 2014 were AUD$481,000 (2013: nil). The fair value of the forward exchange contract falls into level 2 fair 
value measurement, refer to Note 1.22 for information on the measurement of fair values.

11. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Group Group Company Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

$ $ $ $

Cash at bank - on call, interest rate 
nil (2013: nil)  360,413  332,745  174,933  38,360 

Cash at bank - on call, interest rate 
2.75% (2013: 1%)  497,141  401,432  -   383,734 

Cash at bank - term deposit interest 
rate 3.6% (2013: 3.6%)  5,505,448  510,286  5,505,448  510,286 

 6,363,002 1,244,463 5,680,381 932,380
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12. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Group Company Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

Note $ $ $ $

Trade receivables  2,190,357  889,375  -   -  

Less: provision for impair-
ment of trade receivables  (153,899)  -   -   -  

Trade receivables - net  2,036,458  889,375  -   -  

Loans advanced - Micro-
dreams Foundation New 
Zealand 21  200,000  -   200,000  -  

Loan to a related party 23  33,169  -   33,169  -  

Other receivables  55,255  34,098   -  23,086 

Prepayments  7,704   -  6,841   - 

 2,332,586  923,473  240,010  23,086 

Less non-current portion 
- Microdreams Foundation 
New Zealand 21  (153,469)  -   (153,469)  -  

Current portion  2,179,117  923,473  86,541  23,086 

In December 2013 the Company advanced a loan of $200,000 to Microdreams Foundation New Zealand 
(“Microdreams”), a not-for-profit social enterprise. The loan enables field partners of Microdreams to provide 
funding to poor, aspiring micro-entrepreneurs to start or grow their businesses and generate income to improve 
the quality of life for themselves and their families. 

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Group Company

$ $

Office equipment

Cost

Balance at 1 April 2012  18,921  -  

Additions  16,885  5,359 

Balance at 31 March 2013  35,806  5,359 

Additions  14,476  -  

Balance at 31 March 2014  50,282  5,359 

Accumulated depreciation 

Balance as at 1 April 2012  (7,674)  -  

Depreciation for the year  (14,812)  (1,731) 

Balance at 31 March 2013  (22,486)  (1,731) 

Depreciation for the year  (14,549)  (2,419) 

Balance at 31 March 2014  (37,035)  (4,150) 

Carrying amounts

At 1 April 2012  11,247  -  

At 31 March 2013  13,320  3,628 

At 31 March 2014  13,247  1,209 

14. RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING CASH FLOWS

Group Group Company Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

$ $ $ $

Loss after tax  (1,891,439)  (1,189,958)  (1,204,770)  (494,863) 

Items classified as  
investing/financing

Interest received  (184,271)  (24,250)  (190,502)  (63,495) 

Add non-cash items:

Depreciation  14,549  14,812  2,419  1,731 

Share based payment expense  481,731  291,653  481,731  291,653 

Management fee income  -   -   -   (453,664) 

Provision for impairment of trade 
receivables  153,899 - - -

Foreign currency losses  144,267  27,182  -   -  

Gains on financial assets at fair 
value through the profit and loss  (122,799) -  (122,799)   - 

Loss on derivative financial instru-
ments held for trading  34,797   -   -   - 

Add/(Less) movements in working 
capital:

Trade and other receivables  (1,329,843)  (385,314)  16,245  (29,297) 

Trade and other payables  1,502,443  448,863  15,725  (53,433) 

Net cash flow applied to operat-
ing activities  (1,196,666)  (817,012)  (1,001,951)  (801,369) 

15. INVESTMENTS

Company Company

2014 2013

$ $

Investment in subsidiaries

Cost   5,000,000  5,000,000 

Less impairment  -   - 

Carrying value 5,000,000  5,000,000 
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The Company’s investment in subsidiaries is stated at cost less impairment. All subsidiaries have a balance date of 
31 March except Snakk Media Pty Limited which has a 30 June balance date to align with the Australian income tax 
year. Other details are:

Name of entity
Principal 
activites Incorporated Group Interest Value of investment

2014 & 2013 2014 2013

$ $

Agent M Group 
Limited

NZ holding 
company NZ 100%  5,000,000   5,000,000 

Snakk Media Pty 
Limited

Provision of end 
to end mobile 

media solutions Australia 100%   -   - 

Agent M (US) Inc Not trading USA 100%   -   - 

  5,000,000   5,000,000 

16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Group Group Company Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

$ $ $ $

Unlisted securities:

Convertible Note - US 173,130   - 173,130   - 

Convertible Units - US 257,041   - 257,041   - 

 430,171   - 430,171   - 

Moasis Global LLC (“Moasis”) is a limited liability company registered in Delaware, United States of America. 
Moasis has developed a digital system that delivers advertisements on smart phones and other mobile devices to 
consumers within a defined geographic area selected by the advertiser. The Company subscribed for 65,500 Class 
A Membership units at USD$1.53 per unit in February 2014. At 31 March 2014 this represents approximately 3.09% 
of the total subscribed units of Moasis. The fair value of this investment may be affected by future movements in 
the pricing of units offered by Moasis Global LLC in addition to any foreign exchange movements between the US 
dollar and NZ dollar. Issues of subsequent units following our investment have been used to determine the fair 
value of the investment at 31 March 2014. (Refer also to note 21).

Under the terms of the Class A membership units the Company is not entitled to any interest but are entitled to a 
“priority return” equal to 8% of the unit holding issued in cash or equity, and a pro rata share on a pari passu basis 
in distributions made to Class B Members.  No priority return or distribution was received in the year ended 31 
March 2014.

Plyfe, Inc. (“Plyfe”) is a limited liability company registered in Delaware, United States of America. Plyfe offers a 
cloud-based ad technology platform that enable brands to add interactive and game-like experiences into the 
apps, mobile websites and social pages viewed on their smart screen devices. The Company subscribed for 
USD$150,000 convertible notes in November 2013. The fair value of this investment may be affected by the foreign 
exchange movements between the US dollar and NZ dollar. At 31 March 2014, the fair value was determined by 
converting the carrying value at the spot rate as there has been no deterioration in the underlying business since 
November 2013. (Refer also to note 21).

Subsequent to 31 March 2014 the convertible notes converted to an equity instrument in Plyfe, Inc. based on a 
stipulated conversion price in accordance with the terms of the convertible notes.

17. ADVANCES TO SUBSIDIARIES

Company Company

2014 2013

$ $

Agent M Group Limited  474,033  466,605 

Snakk Media Pty Limited  1,116,065 508,296

   1,590,098 974,901

Advances to subsidiaries are unsecured and non-interest bearing at March 2014 (March 2013: interest bearing). 
There is no fixed repayment date and advances are not expected to be repaid within 12 months.

18. COMMITMENTS
The following amounts have been committed to but not recognised in the financial statements. Non-cancellable 
operating lease commitments relate to premises. The Group has no right of renewal or purchase option over the 
premises.

Group Group Company Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

$ $ $ $

Less than one year   34,445  67,496  -   8,940 

Between one and five years  -   -  -   - 

Total commitment   34,445  67,496   -   8,940 

At reporting date the Company and the Group had no material outstanding capital expenditure commitments 
(2013: nil).

19. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Company and Group have no contingent liabilities at balance date (2013: nil).

20. LOSS PER SHARE
The loss of $1,891,439 (2013: $1,189,958) for the year represented a loss per share shown below based on weighted 
average ordinary shares on issue during the year.

Group Group

2014 2013

Note $ $

Weighted average ordinary shares issued   254,281,342  197,907,529 

Weighted average dilutive options issued 25  16,238,818   11,765,397 

Basic loss per share (cents) (0.74) (0.60)

Diluted loss per share (cents) (0.74) (0.60)
 
As share options would have an anti-dilutive impact on the loss per share the basic and diluted loss per share are 
the same.
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21. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group is subject to a number of financial risks including liquidity risk, credit risk and market risk (including 
interest rate risk and credit risk) which arise as a result of its activities.

(I) INTEREST RATE RISK
At reporting date the Company’s interest-bearing financial instruments were:

Group Group Company Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

$ $ $ $

Variable rate instruments

Financial assets – Cash & cash 
equivalents  857,554  734,177  174,933  422,094 

Advance to subsidiaries - - - 974,901

Fixed rate instruments

Financial assets – Cash & cash 
equivalents  5,505,448  510,286  5,505,448  510,286 

Loans advanced – Microdreams 
Foundation New Zealand  200,000  -   200,000  -  

Interest rates on cash and cash equivalents ranged from 0% to 2.75% (2013: 0% to 4.50% p.a.). The interest 
rate on advances to subsidiaries was 0% (2013: LIBOR plus 3%). The interest rate on the loan to Microdreams 
Foundation New Zealand is 3.0% p.a.

CASH FLOW SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS FOR INTEREST BEARING FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) equity and 
profit or loss by the amounts shown below:

Group PROFIT OR LOSS EQUITY

100 bp 
increase

100 bp 
decrease

100 bp 
increase

100 bp 
decrease

$ $ $ $

31 March 2014 
Cash & cash equivalents  58,659  (58,659)  58,659  (58,659) 

Loans advanced – Microdreams 
Foundation New Zealand  2,000  -   2,000  -  

31 March 2013  
Cash & cash equivalents  9,117  (9,117)  9,117  (9,117) 

Company PROFIT OR LOSS EQUITY

100 bp 
increase

100 bp 
decrease

100 bp 
increase

100 bp 
decrease

$ $ $ $

31 March 2014 
Cash & cash equivalents  55,054  (55,054)  55,054  (55,054) 

Advances to subsidiaries  15,901  -   15,901  -  

Loans advanced – Microdreams 
Foundation New Zealand  2,000  -   2,000  -  

31 March 2013 
Cash & cash equivalents  8,940  (8,940)  8,940  (8,940) 

Advances to subsidiaries  9,749  (9,749)  9,749  (9,749) 

 (II) CREDIT RISK
In the normal course of business the Company and the Group incurs credit risk from transactions. The Group has a 
credit policy which is used to manage this exposure to credit risk. As part of this policy, exposures are monitored on 
a regular basis. Cash is deposited with reputable financial institutions. At balance date the banking counterparties 
are Westpac Banking Corporation, National Australia Bank Limited and Bank of New Zealand. The Group does not 
require any collateral or security to support financial instruments.

The loan advanced to Microdreams is unsecured. If the Company demands and is repaid any principal prior to the 
due date a 5% penalty fee on the principal amount repaid is payable.

Maximum exposures to credit risk at reporting date are as follows:

Group Group Company Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

$ $ $ $

Carrying amounts of financial 
assets

Cash and cash equivalents  6,363,002  1,244,463  5,680,381  932,380 

Trade and other receivables  2,190,357  889,375  -   -  

Advances to subsidiaries  -   -   1,590,098  974,901 

Loans advanced - Microdreams 
Foundation New Zealand  200,000  -   200,000  -  

Other financial assets  430,171  -   430,171  -  

Receivables by geographic region

Australia  2,186,534  885,552  -   -  

New Zealand  3,823  3,823  -   -  

The Group’s largest individual debtor at the reporting date accounts for $624,845 (2013: $137,776) of the trade 
receivables.

CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK
The Group’s largest customer accounts for 23% (2013: 20%) of total sales and 30% (2013: 7%) of trade receivables 
at balance date.

89% (2013: 78%) of the Group’s reporting date cash was with one bank. The Group does not have any other 
significant concentrations of credit risk. The Company has a concentration of credit risk in respect of the advances 
to subsidiaries.
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(III) FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities. The Group is 
exposed to foreign exchange risk, primarily from purchases of media cost in US Dollars by the Australian subsidiary. 
The Company and Group are also exposed to foreign exchange risk on other financial assets that are denominated 
in US Dollars. The Group may enter into forward foreign exchange contracts to buy US Dollars and sell Australian 
dollars to reduce the risk and impact of any changes to the US dollar and Australian dollar. The Group is also 
subject to foreign exchange losses or gains on the advances to its Australian subsidiary denominated in New 
Zealand dollars, the revaluation of which gives rise to foreign exchange gains/losses in the Australian subsidiary. 

At 31 March 2014, if the currency had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the US dollar with all other variables 
held constant, the Group’s post- tax loss for the year would have been $92,860 (2013: $54,890) higher/lower, 
mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of US dollar-denominated trade payables and 
financial assets. Similarly, the impact on equity at fair value through profit or loss would have been $92,860 (2013: 
$54,890) higher/ lower.

At 31 March 2014, if the currency had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the US dollar with all other variables 
held constant, the Company’s post-tax loss for the year would have been $45,870 (2013: $nil) higher/lower, mainly 
as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of US dollar-denominated financial assets. Similarly, the 
impact on equity at fair value through profit or loss would have been $45,870 (2013: $nil) higher/ lower.

(IV) LIQUIDITY RISK
Liquidity risk represents the Group’s ability to meet its financial obligations on time. The Group generates sufficient 
cash flows from its operations and financing activities to make timely payments.

The following are the gross contractual cash outflows of financial liabilities:

31 MARCH 2014

Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
cash flows

0 – 3 
months

4 – 12 
months

1 – 2 
years

3 – 5 
years

5+ 
years

Group

Derivative financial 
instruments  34,797  (34,797)  (34,797)  -   -   -   -  

Trade and other payables
 

2,535,414 (2,535,414) (2,535,414) -  -   -   -  

Company

Trade and other payables  168,440  (168,440)  (78,710)  (89,730)  -   -   -  

31 MARCH 2013

Group

Trade and other payables  1,363,362  (1,363,362)  (1,311,177)  (52,185)  -   -   -  

Company

Trade and other payables  104,023  (104,023)  (78,710)  (25,313)  -   -   -  

(V) IMPAIRMENT ALLOWANCE
The ageing of receivables at reporting date was:

Group

2014 2013

Gross Impairment Gross Impairment

$ $ $ $

0 – 30 days  785,800   -  289,747   - 

31 – 60 days  778,944   -  407,382   - 

61 – 90 days  230,245   -  74,716   - 

91+ days  395,368  (153,899)  117,530   - 

  2,190,357  (153,899)  889,375   - 

Factors considered in determining whether any impairment provision was required were the age of the debt, the 
financial position of the debtor and past payment history. Amounts greater than 60 days old are considered past 
due but not all are considered to be impaired. The Group had $153,899 impaired receivables at 31 March 2014 
(2013: $ nil).

(VI) FAIR VALUES
Refer to Note 1.22 for information on the measurement determination of fair values.

The following table presents the Company’s and the Group’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 
31 March 2014. At 31 March 2013, there were no Company or Group assets or liabilities measured at fair value.  See 
Note 16 for disclosures of the other financial assets that are measured at fair value and Note 10 for disclosure of the 
derivative financial instruments that are measured at fair value.

Company and Group

Assets Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets at fair value  
through profit or loss  $  $  $  $ 

Other financial assets

Unlisted securities:

Convertible Note - US  -   -   173,130  173,130 

Convertible Units - US  -   -   257,041  257,041 

Total assets  -   -   430,171  430,171 

Group

Liabilities

Financial liabilities at fair value  
through profit or loss

Derivative financial instruments

Foreign exchange contracts  -   34,797  -   34,797 

Total liabilities  -   34,797  -   34,797 
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS IN LEVEL 2
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter 
derivatives) is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of 
observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all 
significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in Level 2. If one or 
more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in Level 3.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:
• Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments;
• The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange rates at the balance 

sheet date, with the resulting value discounted back to present value.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS IN LEVEL 3
The following table presents the changes in Level 3 instruments for the year ended 31 March 2014 (2013: nil).

Convertible 
Note - US

Convertible 
Units - US Total

 $  $  $ 

Opening balance  -   -   -  

Investments at cost  121,777  185,595  307,372 

Gains or (losses) recognised in profit or loss  135,264  (12,465)  122,799 

Closing balance  257,041  173,130  430,171 

Total gains or losses for the period included in profit or 
loss for asstes held at end of the reporting period, under 
"Other gains/(losses) - net"  135,264  (12,465)  122,799 

The Moasis and Plyfe investments are unlisted. The fair value of financial instruments at fair value through profit 
or loss is determined based on the most relevant market transactions. In the case of Moasis, the fair value of the 
units is based on the most recent issue price for the same Class A membership units. In the case of Plyfe the fair 
value of the convertible notes is considered to be the price paid by the Company for the convertible notes given the 
proximity of the purchase of the investment to 31 March 2014 and the absence of any other issues of convertible 
notes on or around that date.

The table below presents the valuation techniques and the sensitivities of fair value measurements for level 3 
instruments to changes in the valuation inputs described above.

US unlisted 
companies

Fair value at 31 
March 2014

Valuation 
technique Range

Reasonable 
possible shift 

+ / - (absolute 
value)

Change in 
valuation ($)

Moasis Global 
LLC $173,130

Market 
transaction

US$1.53 – 
US$3.40 USD$122,485 $135,264

Plyfe, INC. $257,041
Market 

transaction

10% movement 
in the value of 

the convertible 
note (USD$15,000) ($17,313)

The carrying values of trade and other receivables and trade and other payables approximate their fair value 
estimation.

(VII) CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Company’s objectives when managing capital comprising shareholders’ equity are to safeguard the Company’s 
and the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns to shareholders and benefits to 
other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. The Company cur-
rently monitors capital on the basis of cash requirements and, in order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, 
undertakes issues of new shares to investors and existing shareholders. The Group and the Company have not been 
subject to any externally imposed capital requirements during the current year or comparative period.

(VIII) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

Group Group Company Company Group Group Company Company

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Financial 
assets Loans & receivables Financial assets at fair value through  

the profit and loss

Trade and oth-
er receivables  2,382,653  889,375  -  -  -   -  -  - 

Cash and cash 
equivalents  6,363,002  1,244,463  5,680,381  932,380  -   -  -   - 

Advances to 
subsidiaries  -   -   1,590,098  974,901  -   -  -   - 

Other financial 
assets  -   -  -   -  430,171  -   430,171  -  

 8,745,655  2,133,838  7,270,479  1,907,281  430,171  -   430,171  -  

Financial  
liabilities Measured at fair value through profit and loss Measured at amortised cost

Derivative 
financial  
instruments  34,797  -   -   -   -   -   -  -

Trade and  
other payables  -   -  -   -  2,535,414  1,207,843  99,588 93,005 
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22. SEGMENT INFORMATION
(A) OPERATING SEGMENT 
The Group is organised into one operating segment, the provision of mobile phone enabled promotions and 
marketing services. The segment result is reflected in the financial statements. The Group operates principally in 
Australia.

Two (2013: three) customers of the Group’s media & marketing segment (each of whom individually exceeds 10% 
of the Groups’ revenues) represent approximately $1,085,000 and $817,000 (2013: $714,000, $482,000 and 
$422,000) respectively of the Group’s total revenues derived in Australia.

(B) GEOGRAPHIC SEGMENTS

2014

Australia New Zealand Total

$ $ $

Operating revenue  6,291,418  764,688  7,056,106 

Non-current assets

Property, plant and 
equipment  12,038  1,209  13,247 

2013

Australia New Zealand Total

$ $ $

Operating revenue  3,654,346  -   3,654,346 

Non-current assets

Property, plant and 
equipment  9,692  3,628  13,320 

23. RELATED PARTY INFORMATION
GENERAL
All entities in the Group are considered to be related parties of Snakk Media Limited. Subsidiaries are identified in 
note 15.

At reporting date the Directors of the Company controlled 16% (2013: 24%) of the voting shares in the Company.

Derek Handley is the sole shareholder of Far East Associated Traders Limited which holds 15.4% (2013: 24.0%) of 
the shares in the Company at balance date. Derek Handley provides executive services to the Company.

Sean Joyce resigned as a director of the Company on 28 January 2013 and provides legal services to the Company 
through Corporate Counsel. Payment is due on normal commercial terms.

Prior to his appointment as Group CEO, Mark Ryan provided services through “Really Useful Crew”.

The Company entered into a loan agreement with Mark Ryan for $62,406 on 15 May 2013, to assist with the 
purchase of 960,098 ordinary shares issued at 6.5 cents. The loan maturity date is 14 May 2015 and the loan is 
interest free. At 31 March 2014 the balance of the loan receivable from Mark Ryan was $33,169. 

The Company no longer charges management fees to subsidiaries. Interest on loans to subsidiaries has been 
suspended until such time that subsidiary companies are profitable. 

The Company advances amounts to its subsidiaries to fund their operations. Advances to subsidiaries are 
unsecured and bear interest at a rate of 0% (2013: LIBOR plus 3%). There is no fixed repayment date and advances 
are not expected to be repaid within 12 months.
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Group Group Company Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

$ $ $ $

Subsidiaries

Interest earned from subsidiaries  -   -   7,427  41,308 

Loan advances to subsidiaries  -   -   (615,197)  (352,329) 

Management fee income  -   -   -   453,664 

Amounts receivable from  
subsidiaries  -   -   1,590,098  974,901

Other related parties

Corporate Counsel  -   60,213  -   60,213 

Really Useful Crew  -   108,716  -   -  

Loan advanced to Mark Ryan  62,406   -  62,406   - 

Repayment of loan by Mark Ryan  (29,237)   -  (29,237)   - 

Balances outstanding

Payable to Derek Handley  48,862  1,686  48,862  1,686 

Payable to Corporate Counsel  -   6,808  -   6,808 

Payable to Really Useful Crew  -   47,300  -   -  

Loan to Mark Ryan  33,169  -   33,169  -  

Key management personnel com-
pensation (excluding directors’ 
remuneration) comprised:

Short term employee benefits 765,575  381,831  73,351  50,185 

Share based payments  193,644  110,710  193,644  110,710 

  959,219  492,541  266,995  160,895 

KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL AND DIRECTOR TRANSACTIONS
In addition to their salaries and directors’ fees, the Group also provides non-cash benefits to directors and 
executive officers in the form of share options (see note 25).

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
During the year, the Board approved the following fees and remuneration, including all share option benefits, for 
the directors:

Company & Group 2014 2013

Directors fees
Other 

remuneration Directors fees
Other 

remuneration

$ $ $ $

Directors of Snakk Media Limited

D Handley  125,000   11,128  125,000  25,437 

T Alpe 
– Appointed 28 January 2013  15,000   54,119   -   - 

M Kong 
– Appointed 28 January 2013  15,000   54,119   -   - 

S Joyce 
– Resigned 28 January 2013   - -  29,167  26,497 

P Norman 
– Resigned 28 January 2013   -   -  29,166  30,843 

  155,000   119,366  183,333  82,777 

24. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE
The Group entered into a lease agreement for premises commencing on 1 May 2014 to 30 September 2017, with 
a 4 year renewal option. The gross annual rental is AUD$205,000 + GST and subject to annual CPI Reviews on 1 
October 2015 and 1 October 2016.
 
There have been no other events subsequent to reporting date which have a material effect on these financial 
statements.
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25. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS
The Group has an established share option plan that entitles selected directors, executives, employees and 
contractors to purchase shares in the Company. In accordance with the terms of issue of the options, holders 
are entitled to acquire shares at the price determined at the time the options were issued. All options are to be 
delivered by physical delivery of shares. 

Terms and conditions of grants are as follows:

Grant date
Personnel 
entitled

Number of 
instruments Vesting conditions

Contractual  
life of option

As at 1 April 2012 11,700,000

Three equal tranches, vesting 
one on the day of the grant & 
one on each of the next two 
anniversaries of the grant.

Until 5 calendar years 
from the date of vesting

20/03/2013 Key executives 1,400,000

Three equal tranches, vesting 
on each of the next three anni-
versaries of the grant.

Until 2 calendar years 
from the date of vesting

20/03/2013 Key contractors 770,000
One fully vested tranche issued 
on 20 March 2013.

Until 2 calendar years 
from the date of vesting  

As at 31 March 
2013 13,870,000

Less: options exercised during the year

Ex Directors (3,000,000)

Key contractors (770,000)

Add: options granted during the year

17/06/2013 Directors 2,000,000

Three equal tranches, vesting 
on each of the next three anni-
versaries of the grant.

Until 2 calendar years 
from the date of vesting

17/06/2013 Key executives 960,098

Three equal tranches, vesting 
on each of the next three anni-
versaries of the grant.

Until 2 calendar years 
from the date of vesting

19/12/2013
Key employees 
and contractors 5,320,200

Three equal tranches, vesting 
on each of the next three anni-
versaries of the grant.

Until 2 calendar years 
from the date of vesting

As at 31 March 
2014 18,380,298

In the year ended 31 March 2013 the vesting period of the share options to S Joyce and P Norman was reduced and 
the share based payment expense increased to reflect the shorter vesting period.

During the year ended 31 March 2014 S Joyce and P Norman exercised their share options in full. The weighted 
average share price at the date of exercise was 10.62 cents per share.

The number and average exercise price of the shares options is as follows:

Company and Group 2014 2013

Weighted 
average 

exercise price
Number of 

options

Weighted 
average 

exercise price
Number of 

options

Outstanding at 1 April 5.2 cents 13,870,000 5.0 cents 11,700,000

Granted during the year 10.03 cents 8,280,298 6.5 cents 2,170,000

Exercised during the year 5.31 cents (3,770,000) -

Outstanding at 31 March 7.4 cents 18,380,298 5.2 cents 13,870,000

Options outstanding at 31 March 2014 have a weighted average exercise price of 7.4 cents (2013: 5.2 cents) and 
a weighted average contractual life of 3.9 years (2013: 4.3 years). The range of exercise prices outstanding at 31 
March 2014 was 5.0 cents to 12.0 cents (2013: 5.0 cents). Options exercisable at 31 March 2014 were 9,166,666 
(2013: 8,800,000). The fair value of services received in return for the share options granted is based on the fair 
value of share options granted measured using a Black Scholes model with the following inputs:
 

Key executives,  
employees and contractors Directors

2014 2013 2014 2013

Estimated fair value per share at 
grant date 11.0 cents 12.0 cents 11.1 cents   - 

Exercise price per share 12.0 cents 6.5 cents 6.5 cents   - 

Expected volatility 100% 100% 100%   - 

Option life from date of grant 5 years 5 years 5 years   - 

Risk free interest rate 4.24% 3.51% 3.11%   - 

Expected volatility was estimated by reference to the Company’s listed share price trading history since listing in 
March 2013 and the volatility of listed equity securities for businesses of a similar nature to the Company operating 
in the media industry.

EMPLOYEE EXPENSES:

Company and Group 2014 2013

$ $

Share based payment expense   481,731  291,653 



snakkmedia.com


